"To come out of jail, it's like, you're lost": Psychological Barriers Women Experience During Community Reintegration After Incarceration

By Jordyn Monaghan

A Thesis Submitted to Saint Mary's University, Halifax, Nova Scotia in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Applied Psychology- Forensic Stream.

August, 2024, Halifax, Nova Scotia

Copyright Jordyn Monaghan, 2024

Approved: Marguerite Ternes

Associate Professor

Approved: Tonia L. Nicholls

Professor

Approved: Skye Stephens

Associate Professor

Approved: Amanda Butler

Assistant Professor

Date: August 22, 2024

"To come out of jail, it's like, you're lost": Psychological Barriers Women Experience During

Community Reintegration After Incarceration

by Jordyn Monaghan

Abstract

As the fastest-growing prison population worldwide, women face distinct barriers to community reintegration after incarceration. Gender disparities substantially impact mental and emotional wellness, overlapping with negative coping strategies (e.g. substance use) and, therefore, involvement with the legal system. The current thesis includes two studies that examined the obstacles and distinct needs that women experience after incarceration. Using survey responses, study one explored the relationship between psychological barriers (i.e. self-esteem, self-stigma, social support, loneliness, and trauma) and prosocial reintegration and community connection. Results showed that self-esteem, social support, self-stigma, and loneliness are associated with reintegration and community connection. Through conducting interviews, study two investigated women's experiences and the barriers to reintegration. Results showed four overarching themes: connection as a pillar of healing, individual barriers, structural and systemic barriers, and ways forward. These findings demonstrate the need for additional resources and an improved release plan recognizing the obstacles women face during reintegration.

August 22, 2024

Acknowledgements

I have been privileged to receive incredible support, patience, guidance, and advice throughout the process of writing this thesis. To my supervisor, Dr. Marguerite Ternes, I am unbelievably grateful for your time, effort, and unwavering support, which have been instrumental in bringing this thesis to fruition. Thank you for being an extraordinary role model, embodying the qualities of an outstanding researcher, teacher, and mentor. To my committee members, Dr. Skye Stephens and Dr. Tonia Nicholls, thank you for providing insightful and valuable feedback throughout this process. The immense knowledge and guidance that both of you brought to this thesis have strengthened the final paper and are incredibly appreciated. Also, thank you, Dr. Amanda Butler, for serving as an external examiner on my master's thesis.

To my partner, Chris, despite being on opposite sides of the country, thank you for always being there for me. Ever since we first started dating at 16/17 years old, you have continued to encourage me to achieve my dreams regardless of how it may impact our lives. To the rest of my family, specifically my parents, thank you for always believing in me. You have been there for me through all the stress, joy, tears, and accomplishments I have experienced throughout my life, and I am forever grateful.

To the friends I met through this program and the friends who have continued to be by my side as I began my master's degree, thank you for your support and encouragement.

Emmerson, throughout my schooling, you have not only encouraged and supported me, but you have provided me feedback on likely hundreds of papers that I have written over the years, and I am incredibly thankful. My master's program cohort, your friendships transformed my initial nerves about moving across the country into an incredibly rewarding experience. I am grateful to have shared this graduate school journey with all of you.

Finally, this thesis is dedicated to the women who have generously shared their advice, wisdom, experiences, and reflections with me. Your openness and vulnerability during this study have been invaluable. Listening to your stories has not only enriched this research but has also increased my own learning and strengthened my ability to be an advocate in the community. I hope that I have accurately depicted your experiences. Thank you for sharing your lives with me; your resilience and wisdom are inspiring.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION	8
Introduction	8
Release Planning	8
Risk Assessment	10
Theoretical Perspectives	12
General Strain Theory	
Labelling Theory	
•	
Gender and Incarceration	
Intersectionality	
Over-Representation of Indigenous Women	
Contributors of Negative Re-entry	
High Prevalence of Abuse	
Poverty and Being a Primary Caregiver	
Systemic Oppression and Patriarchal Barriers	
Mental Illness	
Substance Use	22
Psychological Obstacles Upon Re-entry	23
Self-Esteem	23
Self-Stigma	
Loneliness	
Community Social Connectedness	
Trauma	30
CHAPTER 2- STUDY 1	31
Present Study	
Research Questions and Hypotheses	
Method	32
Participants and Procedure	
Data Integrity.	
Measures	
Demographic Questions.	
Additional Descriptive Questions.	
Multidimensional Scale Perceived Support.	
Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale.	37
Self-Stigma of Individuals with Criminal Records Scale.	37
UCLA Loneliness Scale.	
Life Events Checklist/ Traumatic Life Events Questionnaires- Adapted	
Brief Sense of Community Scale.	
Post- Incarceration Reintegration Scale (PIRS)	39
Results	40
Descriptives	40
Bivariate Correlations	

Regression Analyses	44
Hypothesis 1	
Hypothesis 2	
Hypothesis 3	
Hypothesis 4	45
Discussion Limitations and Future Directions	
CHAPTER 3: STUDY 2	
Present Study	
Positionality	
Methodologies and Approach to Qualitative Research	
Feminist Research Methodologies.	
Epistemology and Ontology	53
Method	54
Participants and Procedures	
Data Analysis	
Reflexivity	57
Data Analysis Process.	58
Results and Discussion	59
Overarching Theme 1: Connection as a Pillar of Healing	63
Relationship Challenges Upon Release	
Seeking and Providing a Sense of Community	
Navigating Community Stigma and Discrimination	72
Overarching Theme 2: Individual Barriers Upon Release	76
Psychological Barriers	
Substance Use	
Returning to a Survival Based Lifestyle	83
Overarching Theme 3: Structural and Systemic Barriers	85
Navigating an Unjust System	
An Unrealistic Release Plan and Limited Resources	
Sexualization and Male Relationships	89
Overarching Theme 4: Ways Forward	91
Needs for Desistence	
Advice For Women by Women	
Resilience and the Future	94
Limitations and Future Directions	96
CHAPTER 4: GENERAL DISCUSSION	97
Implications	98
Future Research Directions	101
References	103

Appendices	127	
Appendix A: Informed Consent Form	127	
Appendix B: Rosenberg Self-esteem Scale	130	
Appendix C- Self-Stigma Scale	131	
Appendix D: UCLA Scale	134	
Appendix E: Life Events Checklist for DSM-5	135	
Appendix F: Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support	136	
Appendix G: Brief Sense of Community Scale	137	
Appendix H: Post-Incarceration Reintegration Scale	138	
Appendix I: Semi-structured Interview Questions	139	
Appendix J: Demographic	140	
Appendix K: Feedback Form	141	
Appendix L: Recruitment Poster	143	
Appendix M: Multiple Regression Results- Reintegration	144	
Appendix N: Multiple Regression Results- Community Connection	145	

Chapter 1: General Introduction

Introduction

Transitioning from incarceration to the community can initiate a phase of emotional turmoil due to the need to adapt quickly and learn from others (Pettus-Davis & Kennedy, 2019). Despite having established goals, risk management strategies, and regulations that may be in place for individuals leaving incarceration, women often enter the community in survival mode, acutely aware of the need to quickly create a vastly different lifestyle to live a law-abiding life (Tyagi, 2016). As the fastest-growing prison population worldwide, women face distinct barriers to successful community reintegration after incarceration (Herring, 2020). Women leaving incarceration face several gender-specific disparities, such as abuse, poverty, systemic oppression, and substance use (Yu, 2018). Experiences of gender inequity can substantially impact mental and emotional wellness as they may contribute to women's negative coping strategies upon release (e.g., substance use, self-harm) and, therefore, their reinvolvement with the legal system (Canadian Women's Foundation, 2014; Wright et al., 2012). With 59% of provincially sentenced females reoffending, identifying women's needs and barriers to support their success in a prosocial life upon release could be foundational to developing needed change in ending the cycle of reincarceration (Department of Justice, 2020).

Release Planning

In Canada, the terms reintegration, re-entry, and rehabilitation are often used interchangeably when referring to individuals being released from prison, indicating that sufficient support is available (Griffiths et al., 2007; John Howard Society of Ontario et al., 2016; MacKenzie & Amirault, 2021). Travis (2005) argues that re-entry is the often inevitable process of being released from prison, whereas reintegration and rehabilitation are the long-term

goals of becoming a prosocial community member. Re-entry implies that minimal preparation was completed to support the transition from incarceration into the community (Travis, 2005). Research has shown incarceration in Canada has little to no rehabilitative effect and often fails to deter future offending (Public Safety Canada, 2020). Scholars suggest that the limited rehabilitative impact is due primarily to a lack of continuous support following the end of the individual's sentence. After interviewing 60 Canadians who were recently incarcerated, Barlfour et al. (2018) found that individuals were often released without a release plan or connections to available services. Participants reported a fragmented and inconsistent re-entry process where individuals were being released without warm clothing in the winter, in opiate withdrawal, without transportation, or released directly back to the street (Barlfour et al., 2018). Notably, there was variation in the support they received during reentry; importantly, Balfour et al. (2018) found that the differences depended on the institution rather than the individual's needs.

In a study on Canadians' post-release needs, Hannah-Moffat and Innocente (2013) stated, "...they must also be given the opportunity and systemic resources to support those changes and to thrive, not just to 'successfully' complete their parole without incident' (p. 95). Scholars suggest that our current criminal justice system is designed to support re-entry rather than reintegration as systems fail to recognize the broader social context (i.e. poverty, abuse, stigma) that can prevent prosocial re-entry (Hannah-Moffat & Innocente, 2013; Maidment, 2006; Sheppard, 2022). Similarly, risk assessments often neglect to adequately consider the individual's social context; risk assessments are conducted to aid in the decision-making process of an individual's release through consideration of a person's risk factors, and situational and contextual variables are widely recognized as critical to contributing to the success of a person's

community re-entry (e.g., RNR, HCR-20 and START items; Bloom et al., 2003; SAMHSA, 2020; Van Voorhis, 2012).

Risk Assessment

There is substantial research supporting risk assessment tools; however, research on individual psychological factors that influence a woman's risk of re-offending is limited (Brown, 2017; Fleming et al., 2021; MacKenzie & Amirault, 2021). Risk assessments are used to assess the likelihood of future criminal activity of a person convicted of a criminal offence, primarily based on their past criminal history (Bonta & Andrews, 2007). Despite having gender-specific risks and needs upon release, women who have been incarcerated are often neglected in the evaluation and development of risk assessment tools (Belisle et al., 2022; Fleming et al., 2021).

With unique pathways into the criminal justice system, posing less of a threat of violence, and engaging in different types of offences, women may present criminogenic risk differently than males, therefore requiring a different approach than males (Fleming et al., 2021; Wright et al., 2012). Despite the influence on women's engagement in criminal activities, particular risk factors critical to women (e.g. trauma, unsafe housing, education, self-esteem, self-efficacy, mental illness, substance use, poverty, unhealthy relationships) are often absent in gender-neutral measures of risk (Fleming et al., 2021; Van Voorhis et al., 2008). Compared to men, commonly used predictors of criminal behaviour were similarly predictive for women; however, additional factors such as criminal attitudes were less consistently associated with offending in females, and the influence of some risk factors (e.g. family support, self-harm, education, mental illness) did not have comparable weight to males (Fleming et al., 2021; Strub et al., 2016; Van Voorhis et al., 2008). With most risk assessment tools being either male-specific or "gender-neutral," scholars have suggested the need for ongoing research and development of measures that are

gender responsive and consider women's unique experiences (Brown et al., 2020; Strub et al., 2016; Van Voorhis et al., 2008).

Prior research shows that the most beneficial reintegration programs are based on the Risk, Need, and Responsivity principles, also known as RNR (Geraghty & Woodhams, 2015). RNR principles and risk assessments focus on assessing and targeting the risk of reoffending (Bonta & Andrews, 2007; Ward et al., 2007). RNR focuses on matching the level of service to the individual's risk, assessing and targeting criminogenic needs, and maximizing the likelihood of learning from a rehabilitative intervention by tailoring the support to the individual's strengths, learning style, and motivation (Bonta & Andrews, 2007). A significant criticism of RNR is that even though it identifies the risks and needs of individuals, it neglects to consider the reintegration process and a holistic approach (Ward et al., 2007).

Although recidivism is an essential consideration in identifying risk, many argue it is an insufficient measure of prosocial re-entry (Griffins et al., 2007; National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2022). Estimated recidivism risk is influenced by how and when reoffending is measured and can be measured at various times during an individual's contact with the criminal justice system (Griffins et al., 2007). The overarching goal of reintegration is to be more than arrest-free for a set period; it is a long period of successful reintegration that allows someone to contribute positively to the community (Petersilia, 2004). Supporting the successful transition from prison to the community by targeting overall risk factors, including gender-specific risks, is crucial to address the steady increase of women convicted of a criminal offence (MacKenzie & Amirault, 2021; Wright et al., 2012). By identifying the psychological barriers women experience during reintegration, we can contribute to positively supporting the re-entry process for women who have been involved in the criminal justice system.

Theoretical Perspectives

General Strain Theory

Robert Agnew developed the General Strain Theory in 1992 to describe how negative emotions and experiences can lead to a life of delinquency and inability to achieve one's goals when coping strategies, resources, social supports, self-esteem, and other factors are not present (Agnew, 1992). Agnew (1992) describes the two types of strain experienced as objective and subjective. Objective strains refer to events or conditions that cause strain that many people in the general population do not experience, such as a lack of sufficient food and shelter, violence, a lack of safety, or other factors that are often experienced by those recently released from incarceration (Froggio, 2007). Subjective strain is defined as events that are often subjectively experienced, such as a family member's death or the process of incarceration (Froggio, 2007). The way that individuals subjectively evaluate objective strains is affected by a variety of complex psychological traits and experiences, such as an individual's self-esteem, self-efficacy, beliefs, social support, and other personal factors (Froggio, 2007).

Strain theorists argue that women start and continue a life of crime as a result of the unique stressors in their lives, which impacts their vulnerability to negative emotional responses to strains (Ackerman & Sacks, 2012). This theory argues that delinquency results in an individual's inability to achieve their goals through law-abiding channels due to their respective strain (Ackerman & Sacks, 2012). Largely due to societal stigma and discrimination, individuals who have been involved in the criminal justice system face more challenges than the general population in securing jobs, housing, sobriety, and achieving other goals (Ackerman & Sacks, 2012; Valenty, 2021). Strain Theory explains that individuals returning to the community after incarceration may struggle with securing essential resources and other objective strains due to

psychological barriers such as low self-esteem and a lack of social support (Froggio, 2007). These psychological factors can lead individuals back to familiar criminal activities (Brown, 2017).

General Strain Theory posits that how individuals navigate negative emotions is crucial to understanding criminal behaviour and delinquency, especially when explaining gender differences (Froggio, 2007; Puhrmann, 2015). According to previous research, a substantial distinction in how individuals experience strains is in their approach to managing anger (Puhrmann, 2015). Women are more likely to experience anger in conjunction with depression and sadness, whereas men may express anger through actions, explaining why females often engage in less violent acts than males (Puhrmann, 2015). For instance, within three years of release, males aged 18-34 are 1.6 times more likely (27%) to have a new conviction for a violent offence than females within the same age group (17%; Pedneault et al., 2024). Comparatively, women are 10% more likely than males to have a new conviction for a property offence and 5% more likely to have a new conviction for administration of justice (Pedneault et al., 2024). General Strain Theory suggests that there are gender differences in strains such as sexual violence, leading to gendered differences in negative reactions and, therefore, differences in criminality and delinquency (Agnew, 1992; Puhrmann, 2015).

Labelling Theory

Labelling theory, developed by Howard Becker in 1963, theorizes that labelling those convicted of an offence will perpetuate criminal behaviour (Becker, 1963). The theory identifies an act as "criminal" at the time of getting caught (Becker, 1963). Therefore, it is not the act that is deviant but the criminal label that society applies through official convictions. People reintegrating into society after being convicted of an offence experience significant levels of

stigmatization from the public (Valenty, 2021). With intersecting identities, women who have been incarcerated experience increased discrimination with the influence of gender roles and societal expectations assigned to women (Moore et al., 2020). Isolating women who have offended through labelling and stigmatization can increase deviant behaviour as it reduces access to prosocial activities and groups (Valenty, 2021). Labelling people who have offended contributes to higher recidivism rates as it limits opportunities and potential for prosocial behaviour (Moore et al., 2018). Labels and judgements from society on people who have been incarcerated affect self-image and perception; therefore, it is common for individuals to return to deviant groups to provide shelter and companionship (Valenty, 2021).

Often, it is easier to adhere to the label that society enforces than to try to overcome it, which significantly affects one's self-concept (Mingus & Burchfield, 2012). Bradley-Engen (2011) argued that people who have been incarcerated internalize and incorporate a criminal label into their self-image through society's isolation, which further produces deviant behaviour. Previous studies have found a strong relationship between a criminal label given by society and an individual's self-esteem (Bradley-Engen, 2011; Moore et al., 2018; Valenty, 2021). It can be inferred that the criminal label given after incarceration can also affect an individual's self-stigma, loneliness, and relationships.

Gender and Incarceration

Intersectionality

The guidelines for psychologists outlined by the Canadian Psychology Association (2007) describe the need to understand and recognize that female patients may have diverse identities and experience their lives in multiple contexts, with gender inequity being only one of their intersecting identities. Intersectionality is defined as people uniquely experiencing

oppression and privilege based on their overlapping identities, such as gender, race, and sexuality (Kelly et al., 2021). While women in the general community experience unique challenges (i.e., increased risk of sexual assault, trauma, mental illness, etc.), in a correctional setting, women's experiences of gender, having been incarcerated, and other potential identities such as race, socioeconomic status, etc., should be considered through an intersectional framework rather than viewed as independent of one another (Nicholls et al., 2015; Status of Women Canada, 2016).

Women who have been incarcerated need to be understood through an intersectional framework due to the connection between gender inequalities and stigma-related involvement with the justice system (Nicholls et al., 2015). The criminal justice system aims to be founded on equality, treating everyone equally regardless of their circumstances; however, effective services are based on equity, ensuring unique needs are considered (Ritter et al., 2022). The majority of current correctional practices are based on the needs of males and frequently neglect gender-specific needs, especially those with intersectional identities such as race and gender (Ritter et al., 2022).

Over-Representation of Indigenous Women

Although the present study focuses on all women, it is necessary to acknowledge the over-representation of Indigenous women as their experiences of colonization and racism substantially affect the growing rate of women convicted of a criminal offence (McNab, 2020). Stemming from the intergenerational effects of colonization and policies rooted in racism, Indigenous women make up approximately 4% of the female Canadian population yet represent nearly 50% of federally sentenced women (McNab, 2020; Office of the Correctional Investigator, 2021). Notably, the rate of over-representation of Indigenous women is likely more significant as many Indigenous individuals do not identify as Indigenous upon incarceration

(Howell, 2008). In Canada, the number of females sentenced to federal institutions has increased by over 44% for non-Indigenous women and 76.4% for Indigenous women between 2006 and 2016, a substantially higher proportion than males (Department of Justice, 2019). Compared to the general population, Indigenous people are more likely to be jailed at a younger age, less likely to be granted parole, denied bail more often, and more likely to be released later in their sentence (Department of Justice, 2019). Systemic discrimination and racism have aggravated the overrepresentation of Indigenous people in the justice system, making them more likely to be a victim, accused, or convicted of a crime (McNab, 2020). The history of colonialism, displacement, and residential schools translate to lower education levels, lower incomes, higher levels of mental health issues, substance abuse, and incarceration rates (McNab, 2020).

Indigenous women and girls experience disproportionate rates of violence in Canada, with over 4,000 missing and murdered Indigenous women (Brant, 2017). The high number of missing and murdered Indigenous women result from the over-sexualization and dangerous cultural attitudes and stereotypes that Canadian society has (Brant, 2017). Indigenous people are nearly twice as likely as non-Indigenous people to have experienced violence within the last year (Perreault, 2022). Additionally, Statistics Canada reported that 26% of Indigenous women had experienced sexual violence under the age of 15, three times the proportion of non-Indigenous women (Perreault, 2022). Director and Producer of *Our Sisters in Spirit*, Nick Printup (2016), stated, "To begin to understand the severity of the tragedy facing Indigenous women today, you must first understand the history."

Indigenous women's participation in illegal activities is rooted in their constant battle to fight against systemic barriers (McNab, 2020). Women may be involved in illegal activities to acquire survival needs such as food, shelter, and substances (Sharma et al., 2021). Indigenous

people in Canada have an average total income of \$44,300 dollars, which is \$9,000 less than non-Indigenous families (Statista Research Department, 2024). Indigenous women are often stigmatized, victimized, and criminalized; they are also resourceful, intelligent, and compassionate members of our community whose voices of reintegration challenges deserve to be heard (Lam, 2020). By respecting and valuing Indigenous knowledge and culture, we can provide a foundation for creating the needed change in the community (McNab, 2020). Without recognizing the psychological barriers women face, we neglect a vital component of successfully supporting the reintegration of female Indigenous people and ending the cycle of reincarceration.

Contributors of Negative Re-entry

High Prevalence of Abuse

The most significant risk factor for being a victim of physical and sexual abuse is being female (Adams et al., 2008). Women with a history of physical/sexual violence or neglect are more likely to have a lower education and socioeconomic status (Canadian Women's Foundation, 2014). Women convicted of an offence often have a history of traumatic family backgrounds with significant experiences of being a victim of abuse throughout childhood and adulthood (Strub et al., 2016). Of women who have been federally sentenced, 68% reported having been sexually abused, and 86% have been physically abused, with the actual prevalence likely even higher due to underreporting (Zinger, 2014).

Trauma bonding, an emotional attachment developed from cycles of violence and manipulation, is a common attachment style for women who have experienced trauma in a romantic relationship (Namnya et al., 2008). With a high percentage of women in prison having been in abusive relationships, reintegration support services should consider that it takes an

average of seven times for a survivor to leave the abusive situation (National Domestic Violence Hotline, n.d). Survivors of abuse experience psychological, physical, financial and emotional manipulation and trauma (Johnson, 2017). Because of the high prevalence of women who have offended have been a victim of abuse, it is essential to understand the association that abuse has with the cycle of returning to being involved in criminal behaviour, such as an increase in substance use or other harmful coping mechanisms (Canadian Women's Foundation, 2014).

Experiences of traumatic events are strongly linked to substance use disorders as a method to self-medicate the dysregulation of stress-related hormones following abuse (Khoury et al., 2010). A desire to neutralize the emotional and physical pain experienced from surviving past or current trauma using substances is common, especially for female survivors of sexual abuse (Pascual-Leone et al., 2017). With substance use being a common coping mechanism used to lessen the pain related to traumatic abuse, perpetrators often use methods of coercive control by facilitating a dependence on them to provide and secure substances (Pascual-Leone et al., 2017). Coercive control is used to control behaviours and independence using emotional abuse to harm, punish, or frighten the victim from seeking support (Rivera et al., 2015). This dynamic enforces the perception that the individual cannot confide in other supports and report the violence due to their own criminal behaviour by using substances (Gadd et al., 2019). Due to the fear of being convicted for accessing and using substances, it is challenging for individuals to believe they have the power and ability to confide in support and, in turn, make the necessary changes to a prosocial life (Canadian Women's Foundation, 2014). With substance use closely linked to the victimization of women, serving as a connection between criminal culture and perpetrators of abuse, women may continue a life of illegal activity (Rivera et al., 2015).

Poverty and Being a Primary Caregiver

Women reintegrating into society after incarceration are forced to navigate physical, mental, and environmental obstacles, creating significant daily stressors (Sheppard et al., 2022). To meet their basic needs and survive, women who are reintegrating after incarceration may engage in illegal behaviour such as sex trade work, drug trafficking, property and violent crimes, and other illegal acts (Miller & Bowen, 2020; Tyagi, 2006). Of people who access social services such as health care, daycare, public housing, and income assistance, 77% are women (Tyagi, 2006). Compared to men, women are at a greater likelihood of losing their housing during their incarceration as men are more likely to have a partner at home to maintain the household (Comack, 2018). These gender disparities contribute to the explanation of why being in a romantic relationship with the opposite sex is a risk factor for women but a protective factor for men (Comack, 2018; Sheppard, 2023). With social services often having limited funding, women are commonly forced to supplement their income through criminal activities to provide for themselves and their families (Tyagi, 2006).

Upwards of 93% of single mothers under 25 live below the poverty line (Public Safety Canada, 2015). Making an average of \$15,000 annually, young single mothers are at an increased risk of survival-based criminal activity (Public Safety Canada, 2015). In Canada, an estimated 460,000 children have been separated from their parents due to incarceration during any given year (Stack, 2020). At the time of their arrest, 2/3 of women were single mothers, which suggests that they have had a significant responsibility that may have contributed to committing illegal acts to survive and provide for their children (Office of Correctional Investigator, 2014).

As a multifaceted problem within our society, it is crucial to understand the precursors of poverty and how this can affect women reintegrating after incarceration (Arnsperger, 2004; Blomley, 2009). The top 1% of wealthy Canadians' income has increased by 256% between 1979 and 2006, while the lowest 20% of incomes rose by a mere 11% (Dines, 2012). Women in low-income situations are particularly vulnerable, trying to survive with limited means (Roebuck, n.d). The rise in poverty levels significantly contributes to women's capacity to financially support their families, influencing the methods they must utilize to provide for them (Office of Correctional Investigator, 2014).

Systemic Oppression and Patriarchal Barriers

Despite the structural barriers, these gender-specific challenges are often not recognized in our society (Alfred & Chlup, 2009). With women having a significantly lower average income than men, this gender disparity increases a woman's likelihood of living in poverty and illegally navigating the system in a survival-based way (Alfred & Chlup, 2009). Women make an average income of \$43,010 compared to men, who, on average, make \$60,680 annually; women represent most of the population living in low-income households (Statistics Canada, 2021). Current legislation often contributes to challenges of gender disparity and sexism that women already face (Alfred & Chlup, 2009). These societal issues contribute to systemic barriers and challenges for women to live law-abiding lives (World Health Organization, 2014).

Women who have been incarcerated are often viewed through a patriarchal lens, leading to neglect and discrimination through policies and programming (Tyagi, 2006). The patriarchy is defined as a society where males hold power, with women being excluded from any control and experiencing significant inequalities (Gupta et al., 2023). Our Canadian correctional system reflects a male-dominated society, further marginalizing women who have offended (Tyagi,

2006). Programs and policies were primarily developed based on male participants, leading to inadequate support for females (Holtfreter & Cupp, 2007; World Health Organization, 2014). The barriers women face in a correctional system designed for males add to their challenges during reintegration after incarceration into the community (Alfred & Chlup, 2009).

Mental Illness

Gender disparities surrounding the barriers individuals experience when accessing care and interventions that address immediate and long-term needs are primarily a result of social inequalities and gender-based stereotypes around mental illness (Nicholls et al., 2009; Yu, 2018). Women are socialized to adhere to certain acceptable behaviours, navigate sexist work environments, receive lower wages, and other disparities that increase mental health concerns for women by normalizing the inequalities (Tyagi, 2006; Yu, 2018). At the time of admission to prison, women are twice as likely than men to be diagnosed with a mental illness (Leschied, 2011) and are more likely to be diagnosed with co-occurring disorders (mental illness and substance use disorders; Butler et al., 2024). Women who experience substance use issues, mental illness, and victimization are further marginalized and substantially more likely to be imprisoned (Leschied, 2011; World Health Organization, 2014).

Women experience significant physical safety violations when experiencing sexual harassment, objectification, and violence, which contributes to the development of symptomology of poor mental health, trauma, anxiety, eating disorders and other concerns that are considered more prominent in females (Leschied, 2011). With over half of women reporting feeling dismissed by a doctor when they sought help (Fabian, 2017), women's health concerns continue to be dismissed as histrionic or "emotional" (Tasca et al., 2012). To support women in

reintegrating into their communities after incarceration, society needs to lessen barriers for women seeking support for mental illness.

Substance Use

Transitioning from incarceration to reintegration creates a substantial vulnerability for incarcerated women who struggle with substance use and criminogenic patterns (Fader & Dum, 2013). Research has demonstrated that compared to men, women entering the community after incarceration are often more reliant on substances, are at a higher risk of a fatal overdose, and, for the majority of women, were introduced to drug use by a male partner (Fader & Dum, 2013; Matheson et al., 2008). After completing a substance use treatment program, 41.3% of women with substance use issues return to custody in their first year after being released from Correctional Services Canada (Matheson et al., 2008). Sadly, this cycle often includes the gradual cognitive deterioration of the individual due to substance use and overdose experiences, which contribute to additional challenges (Matheson et al., 2008). Substance use often begins as a poor coping strategy to mitigate the harm they are experiencing from surviving trauma; however, prolonged substance use can compound problems and create additional challenges (Bahr et al., 2012). Ending the substance use and crime cycle is partially contingent on recognizing the gender disparities and developing a gender-responsive approach to women's reintegration (Alfred & Chlup, 2009).

Substance use can contribute to criminal activity, with 42% of Canadians convicted of a federal criminal offence self-reporting that they would not have committed a criminal offence if they were not using substances at the time of the offence (Young et al., 2021). Bahr et al. (2012) stated that those released from prison often returned shortly after due to their inability to refrain from substance use and the circumstances that coincide with illicit drug use. Barrett et al., 2010

stated that 80% of incarcerated women reported a history of substance use. Although a considerable amount of research focuses on substance use and criminal activity, research on the relationship between substance use in women and incarceration is limited, especially with the reintegration process (Adams et al., 2008).

Based on a model proposed by Goldstein (1985), Pernanen et al. (2002) developed a framework on the association between drug use and crime being a result of 1) the psychopharmacological effects of drug use, such as the disinhibiting effects of alcohol leading to violence, 2) committing crime to pay for illicit substances 3) criminal behaviour as a transacting business related to drug use 4) crime being the direct result of laws that regulate controlled substance use. When individuals are incarcerated, access to drugs does not disappear, and some research argues that access to drugs increases, leading to a pattern of continued drug use (World Health Organization, 2014). As such, the individuals reintegrating into the community often continue with their substance problems (World Health Organization, 2014). Problematic substance use contributes to an individual reoffending; it can hinder progress with the criminal justice system and negatively influence community reintegration (Butler et al., 2024; Griffiths et al., 2007).

Psychological Obstacles Upon Re-entry

Self-Esteem

Self-esteem is the positive or negative evaluation of ourselves, which strongly affects our actions daily (Brown, 2017; Rosenberg, 1979). Self-esteem affects our approach to social situations as individuals with high levels of self-esteem are more capable of coping with stress and trauma and developing interpersonal skills (Huang et al., 2019). High self-esteem correlates with positive outcomes and plentiful benefits (Baumeister et al., 2003). Markedly, a higher sense of self allows for healthier relationships and leaves positive impressions on others, whereas low

self-esteem is often related to weak and deviant social interactions (Baumeister et al., 2003). Social inclusion is a human need; therefore, exclusion affects self-esteem and one's ability to fit in with others (Wagner et al., 2018).

Self-esteem has been found to affect adjustment into the community after incarceration (Brown, 2017; Yang et al., 2015). Research has historically focused on males convicted of a criminal offence or "gender neutral" assessments of self-esteem and its relationship to reintegration with contradictory results (Thapa et al., 2021). With the relationship between self-esteem and prosocial reintegration being unclear and controversial, gender-responsive research is needed (Thapa et al., 2021). The RNR model does not conceptualize self-esteem as a criminogenic need, as findings are inconsistent on how self-esteem impacts recidivism (Thapa et al., 2021). However, researchers focusing on female offending argue that self-esteem is a dynamic protective factor for women (Thapa et al., 2021; Yang et al., 2015). Similar to previous findings with female participants (Kort-Butler, 2006; Van Voorhis, 2012), Yang et al. (2015) found that while high levels of self-esteem predicted recidivism among males, it reduced recidivism for females. As risk assessments have historically been based on males, current practices do not recognize self-esteem as a risk/protective factor, which directly contradicts gender-responsive research on self-esteem (Yang et al., 2015).

Corrigan et al. (2006) found that low self-esteem in people with a mental illness is significantly associated with a higher perception and internalization of stigma, which Moore et al. (2018) argue generalizes to other stigmatized groups and, therefore, extends to those who have offended (Moore et al., 2018). When a marginalized group, such as those with substance use issues or a criminal conviction, experience significant stigma, it is common to internalize that which affects self-esteem and life satisfaction (Moore et al., 2018). Those with a criminal

conviction who have high self-esteem have a lower chance of perceiving stigma and internalizing negative stereotypes that will affect their self-perception (Moore et al., 2018).

Self-Stigma

Stereotypes, discriminatory treatment, and restrictive laws can significantly affect one's self-concept, contributing to the risk of reoffending after incarceration (Bradley-Engen, 2011; Moore et al., 2018). Through an intersectional lens, research suggests that belonging to multiple undervalued groups, such as being a woman, a racial minority, or having a criminal history, can exacerbate the impact of stigma, increasing vulnerability to self-stigma (Moore et al., 2020). Women who have been incarcerated are more likely than other groups (e.g. women in the community and men who have been justice-involved) to frequently experience stigma related to parenting, substance use, or involvement in sex work (Kulesza et al., 2016). Moore et al. (2020) found that an increase in perceived stress and pressure was associated with internalized self-stigma in women, providing further challenges for their self-concept.

Recognizing the influence of self-image on recidivism, research has focused on the impact of self-stigma, an evolving process where negative stereotypes and discrimination are internalized and believed to accurately represent a group that the individual belongs to and, therefore, themselves (Corrigan et al., 2006; Moore et al., 2018). Self-stigma is a process starting with perceived stigma, which is the awareness that others hold discriminatory beliefs and stereotypes about a group that the individual belongs to (Moore et al., 2018). If that public stigma is believed and accepted by that person, they will internalize the belief that that stereotype truly reflects themselves and the group they belong to (Bradley-Engen, 2011). By internalizing the stigma, they accept the negative perceptions and feelings of hopelessness, which can, in turn, be detrimental to community reintegration after incarceration (Moore et al., 2018). Self-stigma

has been associated with low self-esteem, poor mental health, increased substance use, and risky and violent behaviour (Moore et al., 2018).

People who have offended are among the most stigmatized and stereotyped marginalized populations in our society, with frequent perspectives that they are "criminals" and should be only seen and labelled as such (Bradley-Engen, 2011). Unfortunately, negative stereotypes often arise towards those who have been convicted of a criminal offence with labels such as "dangerous," "untrustworthy," and "unintelligent" (Bradley-Engen, 2011). Negative perceptions are accurate in some instances; not all are focused or want to change their offending patterns and lifestyles (Bradley-Engen, 2011); however, for those who want to change their offending patterns, these labels contribute to negative perceptions and impact reintegration (Moore et al., 2018). The isolation and discrimination that people with criminal records experience from society can significantly affect their self-concept (Moore et al., 2018). Self-stigma is strongly intertwined with hopelessness, often resulting from a negative self-concept where an individual accepts negative expectations about their future (Stutts & Cohen, 2022).

Stereotypes that people who have been convicted of an offence experience are often internalized and falsely believed to be accurate representations of personal character (Bradley-Engen, 2011). False stereotypes can produce negative psychological and behavioural consequences that can become self-stigma and, in turn, influence one's self-concept (Moore et al., 2018). The expectation of experiencing discrimination and stigmatization from the public can influence employment seeking, adherence to probation and other regulations, searching for substance use treatment, and seeking additional resources and support, which leads to increasing one's risk of recidivism (Moore et al., 2018). Self-stigma can have pivotal implications during the community re-entry process, so it is crucial to recognize the factors that increase

vulnerability toward self-stigma (Moore et al., 2018). Protective and risk factors of self-stigma were largely unknown until Moore et al.'s (2018) research found that low self-esteem highly impacts the risk of internalizing negative stereotypes of stigma against those who have been convicted of a criminal offence population.

Loneliness

Individuals reintegrating into society after incarceration are vulnerable to feelings of loneliness and social isolation, which can significantly negatively impact the prosocial relationships needed for positive reintegration (Jozan, 2020). Regardless of the social connections present in the community, an individual who is reintegrating into the community may feel lonely, disconnected, and isolated (Shanker et al., 2019). Loneliness is a subjective experience with a discrepancy between desired and perceived levels of social connections (Hawkley & Cacioppo, 2010). With an innate need to connect, it is mentally and physically distressing when individuals experience a gap between their desire for social connection and reality (Hawkley & Cacioppo, 2010). When a motivation to connect with others fails post-incarceration, loneliness can result in social withdrawal and maladaptive behaviours (Qualter et al., 2015).

With such a strong focus on navigating the system and connecting to adequate support and resources, individuals may experience challenges post-incarceration in building and maintaining supportive relationships (Perron et al., 2014). Loneliness is frequently experienced by those feeling estranged from their support systems and alienated from society (Kidd & Davidson, 2007). As a result, these individuals may seek advantageous negative reconnection with others to keep themselves safe from the anticipated societal stigma (Jozan, 2020). The maladaptive behaviours from feelings of loneliness have been shown to result in the

reinforcement of negative social interactions and hypervigilance to perceived stigma and social threats (Jozan, 2020).

Beutel et al. (2017) found that the majority of individuals with high levels of loneliness were women, and factors more commonly experienced by women, such as generalized anxiety, panic attacks, suicidality, and exposure to traumatic events were strongly associated with loneliness. Exposure to trauma, which is strongly associated with criminal justice involvement, may influence negative internal reactions leading to feelings of loneliness (Moore et al., 2020). Being two to three times more likely to experience a traumatic event that could lead to a Post Traumatic Stress Disorder diagnosis, women are at an increased likelihood of experiencing loneliness (Olff, 2017). When analyzing the history of sexual trauma and loneliness, Kao et al. (2014) found a stronger association among women (d = 0.66) than men (d = 0.32), indicating the need for increased resources, social connections, and sense of belonging.

As feelings of loneliness are increased by feeling separated from a support system, 40% of women reported that maintaining a relationship with their children after incarceration would reduce their likelihood of reoffending (Nutbrown et al., 2019). By maintaining a relationship, incarcerated people and their family members can feel supported and empowered through the future barriers they may face (Nutbrown et al., 2019). Over 375,000 Canadian children affected by parental incarceration do not have a relationship with their mothers after release (KIP Canada, 2020). Furthermore, with a challenging relationship with their children after incarceration, women have less support and drive to maintain a law-abiding lifestyle. The loss of family, children, and other supporters contributes to feelings of loneliness and isolation.

Community Social Connectedness

Community social connectedness is defined as a sense of belonging to others and a feeling of inclusion within the community (BC Health Communities, 2018; Folk et al., 2016). The nature of one's relationship with others can impact their trajectory in life (Mashek et al., 2007). British Columbia (BC) Health Communities (2018) emphasizes that a community is socially connected if everyone feels they belong. Connection to the community is an influential and integral part of an individual that can elicit a sense of belonging and attachment (Mashek et al., 2007). As it shapes how we approach the world and ourselves, social connection to the community influences our attitudes and values, and can impact the likelihood of a woman experiencing revictimization and reoffending (Folk et al., 2016).

Connectedness to the community is a broad construct that captures a personal feeling of closeness to the social world (Folk et al., 2016). Women who have been incarcerated face substantial discrimination compared to men and women not involved with the justice system, often being blamed for their trauma, judged harshly, and generally receiving less support from the community (Kao et al., 2014). In non-correctional research, those with a strong sense of community reported higher subjective well-being, prosocial behavioural outcomes, decreased drug use, and reduced feelings of loneliness (Folk et al., 2016). The importance of community connection has been frequently explored with prosocial populations (i.e., sports teams, youth in high school, etc.; Hayes & Chodkiewicz, 2006; Misener & Doherty, 2012). However, limited research on community social connections with those convicted of a criminal offence, especially women, has been conducted. As shown by Kao et al. (2014), who surveyed incarcerated individuals, social support is significantly associated with gender, and therefore, additional research is needed.

Trauma

Neural mapping and brain scans have outlined the alteration that previous traumatic experiences can have on neural development, suggesting lasting consequences (Maté, 2009). When more than one type of trauma is experienced, referred to as complex trauma, individuals are at an increased likelihood of developing Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) (Violence Policy Center, 2017). People living with PTSD can be triggered by memories of past trauma, leading to changes in behaviour patterns, such as increased substance use and maladaptation (Violence Policy Center, 2017). The consequences of experiencing violence can include difficulties in forming trusting relationships, as well as the inability to differentiate between a safe environment and threats (Violence Policy Center, 2017). Early trauma can affect how individuals manage their stress later in life (Maté, 2009). Individuals who experienced trauma in childhood are more likely to be over-reactive and distressed when facing stress later in life (Mate, 2009). Similar to low self-esteem, adverse childhood experiences can affect the management and reactions to stressful situations later in life (Huang et al., 2019; Maté, 2008).

Vitopoulos et al. (2019) found that 72% of women with a history of offending had experienced at least one type of childhood maltreatment, a substantially larger amount than the estimated 32% with this experience in the general population (Afifi et al., 2014). Trauma's role in recidivism and reintegration has been a heavily debated topic, especially for females who have offended (Vitopoulos et al., 2019). Women are significantly more likely to experience complex trauma and have higher levels of PTSD than men (Vitopoulos et al., 2019). The past trauma that women have experienced can result in severe anxiety, panic disorder, major depressive disorder, substance use disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder and many other forms of mental health issues (Grossman, 2018.). Furthermore, self-esteem can be affected mainly due to traumatic

experiences stemming from negative thoughts about oneself and self-blame from the event (Shores & Millon, 2016). Mental health issues that stem from traumatic events can affect the reintegration of someone who has offended, as they are at a higher risk of substance use and negative social interactions (Vitopoulos et al., 2019).

Chapter 2- Study 1

The number of incarcerated women is rapidly increasing, yet research focuses mainly on males who have been convicted of a criminal offence and often neglects to consider females (Department of Justice Canada, 2020; Public Safety Canada, 2015). Research exists on instrumental barriers that women experience when reintegration; however, research on the relationship between emotional and mental wellness with community connection and prosocial reintegration after incarceration is limited. By determining and understanding the psychological barriers women experience after release, we can contribute to women having a positive reintegration by targeting and addressing those barriers upon release.

Present Study

Using survey responses from women who have experienced incarceration, the present study aimed to better understand the relationship between psychological barriers (i.e. self-esteem, self-stigma, relationship satisfaction, loneliness, and trauma) and prosocial reintegration and community connection. The outcome variables, post-incarceration community re-entry and community connection, have been examined in previous research on individuals returning to the community (Allan et al., 2023; Lowe et al., 2017; Rydberg et al., 2022). A multiple regression analysis examined how the predictor variables (the psychological factors) impact the outcome variables (prosocial reintegration and community connection). All tests were two-tailed, and p values < .05 were considered statistically significant.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The study investigated the following research questions: Are there psychological barriers that need to be considered when assessing the likelihood of desistance for women after incarceration? Are there psychological barriers that need to be considered when assessing the likelihood of community connection for women after incarceration?

Based on the previous research conducted on women who have offended, research hypotheses were developed as the foundation for Study 1.

H1: Self-esteem and social support will be positively associated with post-incarceration reintegration.

H2: Self-esteem and social support will be positively associated with community connection.

H3: Self-stigma, loneliness, and trauma will be negatively associated with post-incarceration reintegration.

H4: Self-stigma, loneliness, and trauma will be negatively associated with community connection.

Method

Participants and Procedure

The total sample was composed of 110 self-identifying females who were over the age of 18, self-identified as having previously been incarcerated in a Canadian correctional center, and currently reside in Canada. Information was collected on respondents' demographic characteristics such as age, sexual orientation, race, education level, and employment. The majority of participants were between 26 and 45 (n = 81; 73.64%). Participant race was diverse (35.5% Black; 34.5% White; 8.2% Indigenous; 7.3% South Asian; 5.5% Middle Eastern; 2.7% East/Southeast Asian; 2.5% Latino; 1.8% preferred not to say). Participants currently resided in

various provinces across the country, such as Ontario (34.3%), Alberta (15.6%), British Columbia (14.1%), Nova Scotia (14.1%), Quebec (10.9%), Newfoundland and Labrador (4.7%), Saskatchewan (3.1%), New Brunswick (1.6%), and Manitoba (1.6%). The majority of participants did not identify as 2SLGBTQ (77.3%), did not complete post-secondary education (70.0%), and were employed full-time (69.1%). Demographic information for the sample is presented in Table 1.

Table 1 Study Demographics (N = 110)

	n	%
Age (N = 110)		
18-25	9	8.2
26-35	45	40.9
36-45	36	32.7
46-55	17	15.5
56+	3	2.7
Race $(N = 110)$		
Black	39	35.5
Indigenous	9	8.2
East/Southeast Asian	3	2.7
Latino	5	4.5
Middle Eastern	6	5.5
White	38	34.5
South Asian	8	7.3
Prefer not to say	2	1.8
Current province of residence $(N = 64)$		
British Columbia	9	14.1
Alberta	10	15.6
Saskatchewan	2	3.1
Manitoba	1	1.6
Ontario	22	34.3
Quebec	7	10.9
New Brunswick	1	1.6
Nova Scotia	9	14.1
Prince Edward Island	0	0.0
Newfoundland and Labrador	3	4.7
Nunavut	0	0.0
Northwest Territories	0	0.0
Yukon	0	0.0
Identify as 2SLGBTQ (N = 109)		
Yes		21.8
No	85	77.3
Not Sure	0	0.0
Prefer not to answer	0	0.0

Education level $(N = 110)$		
Less than high school	5	4.5
High School	46	41.8
Some college or university	26	23.6
College or specialized diploma	19	17.3
Bachelor's degree	10	9.1
Some post-baccalaureate	3	2.7
Graduate degree	1	0.9
Employment $(N = 110)$		
Full time	76	69.1
Part time	23	20.9
None	11	10.0

Prior to the collection of data, ethics approval was obtained from Saint Mary's University Research Ethics Board. Data was collected through an anonymous online survey. The survey link was included on a poster (Appendix L), which was distributed via email to approximately 250 relevant organizations across Canada (i.e. probation offices, parole offices, Department of Justice, shelters, reintegration services, overdose prevention sites). The poster was also shared via social media. Additionally, respondent-driven sampling, a commonly used snowball recruitment method for hard-to-reach populations, was used. This sampling strategy allowed participants the opportunity to receive compensation (\$5 gift card) if they introduced their peers to the study and they both participated. Participants were compensated \$10 for the interview and \$5 for the survey. By selecting the link via the poster, participants were directed to a Qualtrics survey platform that asked them to review and provide consent prior to responding to the survey. The survey took approximately 20 minutes to complete. The consent form described the purpose of the study, eligibility, potential risks and benefits of their participation, limits of confidentiality, and the right to withdraw.

Data Integrity. Participant responses were excluded if they did not pass the three attention checks, if their response was flagged as not being from an eligible participant (i.e. not female, not living in Canada, under 18 years old), or if their response was identified as

originating from an automated bot. Despite safety protocols and data protection mechanisms (i.e. CAPTCHA, bot detection, and ballot box stuffing), automated computer software bots infiltrated the survey. Internet-based surveys are on the rise, especially with hard-to-reach populations such as people with substance use issues (Schmidt et al., 2016), sex workers (Thng et al., 2018), and social justice movements (Harvey, 2017). With an increase in Internet surveys, recent research has shown that this increase coincides with the participation of Internet automated bots (Griffin et al., 2022; King-Ngyberg et al., 2023). After disseminating the recruitment materials via email to relevant organizations, due to the high number of responses (N = 620), the author discovered that many responses were automated bots that inferably found the study through social media platforms. Based on the recommendations of Griffin et al. (2022) and King-Ngyberg et al. (2023), a systematic bot detection and removal process took place, resulting in the removal of 527 responses. Responses were removed if they completed the survey in an unrealistic amount of time (i.e. less than seven minutes), did not reside in Canada, identified as a male, or had suspicious responses to open-ended questions that were unlikely to be from a human. Examples of suspicious responses included responding to the question what crimes were you convicted for? with "New York," "I was murdered," and "calling my family names, I cant stand it".

As recommended in previous studies (Griffin et al., 2022; King-Ngyberg et al., 2023), to stop the bots from continuing to infiltrate the survey, the first survey was paused, and a separate survey was created with additional data protection measures in place (i.e. including questions that are only visible to bots (Honeypot Method), additional CAPTCHAs, Canadian IP address requirements)¹. Although to a lesser degree, the second survey received bot responses and 82 responses were removed. Two responses in the total data set were removed for failing to pass the

¹ The first wave of recruitment was from November 9th to December 2nd 2023.

The second wave of recruitment was from December 8th 2023 to May 26th 2024.

three attention checks. Despite having the option at the end of the survey, no participants chose to withdraw from the study.

Measures

Demographic Questions. Participants responded to questions regarding their age, race, sexual orientation, education, employment status, and the province they currently live in. The responses provide background information about the individual and their previous incarceration.

Additional Descriptive Questions. Participants responded to additional questions to provide context on the incarceration they experienced. Participants were asked open-ended questions about how long ago they were incarcerated, the crime/s they were convicted for, and the time spent in the institution. Additionally, they were asked questions on a 4-point Likert scale (1 = never to 4 = very often) on how frequently they used substances at the time surrounding incarceration and their current use.

Multidimensional Scale Perceived Support. Participants were asked 12 questions examining their perceived support from their significant others, family members, and friends on a seven-point Likert scale (1 = very strongly disagree to 7 = very strongly agree). A score of 12-35 indicates low perceived support, 36-60 as medium support, and 61-84 as high levels of perceived support from significant others, family, and friends. Authors of the scale, Zimet et al. (1988), found coefficient alpha values ranged from .84 to .92. Internal consistency with the present sample was .89, consistent with similar research on those incarcerated (α = .93; Wittenborn et al., 2020). Some examples of questions include: *There is a special person who is around when I am in need*, my *friends really try to help me*, and *my family is willing to help me make decisions*.

Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale. The Rosenberg Self-esteem Scale is a commonly used measure developed by Morris Rosenberg (1965) to assess self-esteem measurements. This 40-item scale is used to measure self-esteem in the present study on a four-point response structure (1 = strongly disagree to 4 = strongly agree), with a high score indicating higher levels of self-esteem. Internal consistency for the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale with research on similar populations was .79 (Boduszek et al., 2013), which is similar to the present study ($\alpha = .80$). Types of questions include: On the whole, I am satisfied with myself, and At times, I think I am no good at all. The responses are coded accordingly with some reverse coded and are collected to form an overall self-esteem score.

Self-Stigma of Individuals with Criminal Records Scale. Moore and colleagues (2016) adapted the Self-Stigma of Mental Illness Scale to develop the Self-Stigma of Individuals with Criminal Records Scale (SSICR). The 27-item SSICR was created to be used with people who have criminally offended. The scale assesses stereotype awareness perceived stigma), stereotype agreement, and stereotype concurrence (internalized stigma). The scale assesses nine common stereotypes about those who have been incarcerated with three clauses: 1) perceived stigma ("the public thinks most people with a criminal record are..."), stereotype agreement ("I think most people with a criminal record are...") and internalized stigma ("Because I have a criminal record, I am..."). The items are rated on a four-point scale from 1) Strongly Disagree to 4) Strongly Agree, with a high score indicating a high level of self-stigma. Moore et al. (2018) found that each section of the scale had acceptable reliability: perceived stigma $\alpha = .92$, stereotype agreement $\alpha = .84$, and internalized stigma $\alpha = .73$. The internal consistency for the present study is similar for perceived stigma ($\alpha = .82$), stereotype agreement ($\alpha = .81$), and internalized stigma ($\alpha = .83$).

UCLA Loneliness Scale. Developed by Russell et al. (1980) at the University of California, Los Angeles (UCLA), the UCLA Loneliness Scale is used for investigating an individual's feelings of loneliness. By measuring loneliness, the scale investigates potential feelings of sadness that stem from an absence or lack of meaningful interpersonal relationships. The scale asks participants to indicate how often they experience specific situations. It is 20 items on a 4-point scale measuring how often an individual can relate to the feelings that the questions describe. Types of questions include: *I am unhappy doing so many things alone*, and *I have nobody to talk to*. Previous research with participants who are incarcerated demonstrated an internal consistency of .89 (Nunes & Cortoni, 2007), which is comparable to the present study ($\alpha = .95$).

Life Events Checklist/Traumatic Life Events Questionnaires- Adapted. The Life

Events Checklist was developed by Gray et al. (2004) as a 17-item self-report tool that looks at

potentially traumatic events in an individual's life. With significant item overlap to the

commonly used Traumatic Life Event Questionnaire (TLEQ; Kubany et al., 2000; Weathers et
al., 2013), examples of items that participants are asked include natural disasters, fires, and

physical assault. The TLEQ is a 22-item questionnaire that asks participants about the frequency

of the traumatic event, whereas the LEC asks about the level of experience. In an attempt to have
as minimally invasive questions asked to the participants as possible, the author used the LEC 17

items in combination with the TLEQ choice of responses (i.e. frequency of occurrence such as

never, once, 2-3 times, 4-10 times, 10+ times, prefer not to say). When analyzing the

psychometric properties of both scales, Gray et al. (2004) acknowledged the adaptability of the
scales. As both questionnaires are self-reported, Cronbach's alpha was not reported. Notably,

Gray et al. (2004) found that the TLEQ had a kappa coefficient of .40 or higher for female

participants and a mean kappa of .70 when compared to participant interviews. Additionally, the LEC had a kappa coefficient of .61 for all items, and the retest correlation was r = .82, p < .001.

Brief Sense of Community Scale. Developed by Peterson et al. (2008), the Brief Sense of Community Scale assesses the fulfillment, membership, influence, and emotional connection someone has to their community. Types of questions include: I can get what I need in this neighbourhood, and I feel connected to this neighbourhood. This scale consists of eight questions on a 5-point Likert scale from 1) Strongly Agree to 5) Strongly Disagree. Peterson et al. (2008) reported a Cronbach's alpha of .92, which is comparable to the present study ($\alpha = .84$).

Post-Incarceration Reintegration Scale (PIRS). Despite the growing literature on risk assessment tools, there continues to be limited research and tools on community reintegration after incarceration. Based on a coding framework created by Willis and Grace (2008) measuring community reintegration planning after prison release, the author and thesis supervisor of the present study developed the Post-Incarceration Reintegration Scale (PIRS). Through the Good Lives Model, Willis and Grace (2008) expanded on the well-established static and dynamic risk factors of recidivism to domains that have been consistently identified as barriers upon release: a) housing needs, b) social support, c) idiosyncratic risk factors, d) employment, e) Good Lives Model secondary goods f) motivation. Willis and Grace (2008) found that social support, employment, and housing needs have an AUC of .78, with an average Cohen's kappa value of 0.83 among all items. In response to the limited scales available that measure well-being, criminal desistance, and success in other domains surrounding reintegration success, the National Academics of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (2022) proposed the Subjective and Objective Measures of Post-Release Success. While Willis and Grace (2008) provided a framework for the PIRS, the questions stemmed from the Subjective and Objective Measures of

Post-Release Success and various other relevant research studies conducted on community reentry (Balfour et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2023; Sheppard, 2022). The present scale consists of twelve questions on a 5-point Likert scale from 1) Strongly Disagree to 5) Strongly Agree with two items being reverse coded (item #5 and item #9). A high total score indicates a high level of post-release community planning and prosocial reintegration. The scale has a Cronbach's alpha of .81.

Results

Descriptives

The largest portion of individuals in the sample (29.11%; n = 32) indicated that they were incarcerated two to three years ago. Among participants, 17 (n = 22.4%) reported their most recent conviction being for a non-sexual violent crime. Additionally, 14 participants (n = 12.7%) responded that their most recent conviction was for a drug-related offence and expanded on their response with explanations such as "My first charge was trafficking with the intent to sell into a correctional center n then mostly thief to support my drug addiction" and "Many different non-violent crimes to support my drug habit." A significant relationship was found between substance use surrounding the time of incarceration and current substance use, X^2 (105) = 63.46, p < .001. Descriptive information about the participants' criminal offending is found in Table 2.

Table 2 Descriptives (N = 110)

-	n	%
How long ago were you incarcerated? $(N = 79)$		
< 6 months	7	8.9
6 months to a year	9	11.4
2-3 years	32	40.5
4-5 years	21	26.6
6 – 7 years	8	10.1
8 + years	2	2.5
What crime was your most recent conviction $(N = 76)$		
Violent crime (Not including Sexual Offence)	17	22.4
Drug related offence	14	18.4

Driving related offence	5	6.5
Sexual offence	1	1.3
Mischief	4	5.3
Financial offence	5	6.6
Theft	16	21.1
Fraud	12	15.8
Other minor offence	2	2.6
How often did you drink alcohol or use substances surrounding your		
incarceration? $(N = 105)$		
Never	45	42.9
Occasionally	28	26.7
Frequently	17	16.2
Very Often	15	14.3
How often do you currently drink alcohol or use substances? $(N = 107)$		
Never	29	27.1
Occasionally	47	43.9
Frequently	16	15.0
Very Often	15	14.0

Bivariate Correlations

Bivariate correlations were used to analyze the association between all continuous variables (Table 3). Social support was positively correlated with self-esteem (r = .711; p < .001), community connection (r = .595; p < .001), and post-incarceration reintegration (r = .629; p < .001). Social support was negatively correlated with the three levels of self-stigma, perception (r = - .556; p < .001), internalized (r = - .268; p < .001), and stereotype agreement (r = - .231; p = .015), as well as with loneliness (r = - .759; p < .001), and experiences of trauma (r = - .268; p = .013). Self-esteem was positively correlated with community connection (r = .677; p < .001), and post-incarceration reintegration (r = .747; p < .001) and was negatively correlated with self-stigma perception (r = -.611; p < .001), loneliness (r = -.798; p < .001), and trauma (r = -.448; p < .001). Self-stigma based on the public's perception was positively correlated with loneliness (r = .704, p < .001) and trauma (r = .450; p < .001) but was negatively correlated with community connection (r = -.515; p < .001), and post-incarceration reintegration (r = -.548; p < .001). Self-stigma based on internalized views was positively correlated with self-stigma agreement (r = .750; p < .001) and negatively correlated with trauma (r = -.538; p < .001) and

post-incarceration reintegration (r = -.248; p < .001). Self-stigma related to stereotype agreement was negatively related to trauma (r = -.494; p < .001). Loneliness was positively associated with experiences of trauma (r = .491; p < .001) and negatively associated with community connection (r = -.724.; p < .001), and post-incarceration reintegration (r = -.704; p < .001). Trauma was negatively correlated with community connection (r = -519.; p < .001), and post incarceration reintegration (r = -.277; p < .001). Lastly, post-incarceration reintegration was positively correlated with community connection (r = .862; p < .001).

Table 3 *Means and Correlations of Variables in the Study (N* = 110)

Variable	M	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Social support	61.98	14.66	-								
2 Self-esteem	27.99	5.23	.71**	-							
Perceived Self- stigma	25.17	5.27	56**	61**	-						
4 Internalized Self- stigma	19.51	5.51	27**	09	.01	-					
5 Self-stigma Agreement	19.26	5.36	23*	02	.05	.75**	-				
6 Loneliness	24.79	13.03	76**	80**	.70**	.09	.04	-			
7 Trauma	4.24	9.49	27*	45**	.45**	54**	49**	.49**	-		
8 Sense of Community	29.29	6.01	.60**	.68**	52**	01	.06	73**	52**	-	
9 Reintegration	43.29	7.86	.63**	.75**	55**	25**	17	70**	28*	.76**	-

^{*}Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (two tailed)
**Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (two tailed)

Regression Analyses

Hypothesis 1. A multiple regression model demonstrated that predictor variables of self-esteem and social support were significantly associated with prosocial reintegration, F^2 (2, 107) = 73.13, p < .001, with an R^2 of 0.58, indicating that 58% of the variance in post-incarceration reintegration can be explained by the two predictors. Self-esteem (B = .912, p < .001) and social support (B = .106, p = .029) were significantly associated with post-incarceration reintegration.

Hypothesis 2. The multiple regression model with predictor variables of self-esteem and social support were significantly associated with community connection, F^2 (2, 107) = 50.28, p < .001, with an R^2 of .48, indicating that 48% of the variance in community connection can be explained by the two predictors. Self-esteem (B = .59, p < .001) and social support (B = .094, p = .02) were significantly associated with community connection.

Hypothesis 3. As only 77.3% of participants completed the Traumatic Life Event Questionnaires (TLEQ), it was removed for the regression analyses to ensure the analysis appropriately represented the total sample size (N = 110; See Appendix M for the regression model with TLEQ included in the analysis). The multiple regression model with predictor variables of loneliness and the three levels of self-stigma (perception, internal, and agreement) was significant, F^2 (4, 105) = 30.75, p < .001, with an R^2 of 0.54, indicating that 54% of the variance in post-incarceration reintegration can be explained by the four predictors. The three levels of self-stigma, perception (B = -.181, P = .20), internal (B = -.285, P = 0.051), and agreement (B = .008, P = .956) were not statistically associated with post-incarceration reintegration; however, loneliness was associated with a decrease in post-incarceration reintegration (B = -.363, P < .001).

Hypothesis 4. As stated in hypothesis 3, TLEQ was not included in this analysis due to the limited number of surveys completed (N = 110; See Appendix N for the regression model with TLEQ included in the analysis). The multiple regression model with predictor variables of loneliness and the three levels of self-stigma (perception, internal, and agreement) was significant, F^2 (4, 105) = 29.94, p < .001, with an R^2 of 0.53, indicating that 53% of the variance in the outcome variable, community connection can be explained by the four predictors. The three levels of self-stigma, perception (B = -.019, p = .862), internal (B = -.024, p = 0.831), and agreement (B = .114, p = .320) were not statistically associated with community connection. However, loneliness was associated with a decreased community connection (B = -.330, p < .001).

Discussion

The present study examined psychological barriers that prior research suggests that women may experience when re-entering the community after incarceration (e.g., perceived support, self-esteem, self-stigma, loneliness, and trauma) and their influence on community reintegration and community connection. All of the psychological barriers except for self-stigma agreement were correlated with post-incarceration reintegration. A multiple regression analysis found that as self-esteem and perceived social support increase, post-incarceration reintegration and community connection increase, whereas the opposite association was seen with loneliness. Although post-incarceration reintegration was not significantly predicted by perceived (p = .20) or internal self-stigma (p = .051), the results indicate a need for further research with an increased sample size. Having a smaller sample size may have impacted our findings, particularly with internalized self-stigma, as a multiple regression analysis found internal self-stigma was p = 0.051, and a p-value of < 0.05 was considered significant. Notably, a significant

relationship was found when conducting a correlation analysis, which found that as prosocial reintegration increases, internalized self-stigma decreases (r = -.248; p < .001). A larger sample size may allow for the requisite power needed to find a significant relationship between how internalized self-stigma can impact prosocial reintegration and decrease the potential for Type II error, the failure to find a significant effect when there is one.

As previously noted, trauma was removed from the regression analysis as only 77% of participants completed the survey. Considering trauma was included in the original research questions and is often prevalent in women who are incarcerated, an exploratory analysis was conducted to address the initial hypotheses that self-stigma, loneliness and trauma are associated with both outcome variables of reintegration and community connection (Appendix M/N). Participants with missing responses to the trauma questionnaire were removed from the analysis. Comparable to the initial findings for the outcome variable of reintegration, the multiple regression model with predictor variables of loneliness, three levels of self-stigma (perception, internal, and agreement), and trauma was significant, $F^2(5, 79) = 17.62$, p < .001, with an R^2 of 0.53 as well as when community connection was the outcome variable, F^2 (5, 79) = 18.76, p < 10.53.001, with an R^2 of 0.54. Trauma was not significantly associated with reintegration (B = -.04, p= .662); however, it was significant with community connection (B = -.15, p = .032). Including trauma as a predictor variable influenced the significance level of additional predictors, specifically internalized self-stigma and self-stigma agreement. With the outcome variable of reintegration, internalized self-stigma was not significant in the initial regression model (B = -.29, p = .051), yet it was significant when trauma was included as a predictor variable (B = -.41, p = .031). Additionally, although self-stigma agreement was not significant with community

connection in the initial regression model (B = .11, p = .320), when trauma was included in the regression model, a significant association was found (B = .34, p = .022).

Without timely and non-judgmental access to treatment during incarceration, there is a heightened risk of the continuation of intergenerational trauma and repeat offending. These findings indicate the need for additional research on how trauma can impact reintegration and community connection, specifically in consideration of additional psychological barriers such as self-stigma. Benfer et al. (2023) note that the social cognitive model explains that PTSD, shame, and worthlessness are founded on similar beliefs, which can result in self-stigma and can impact one's behaviour (e.g. "I am a criminal, and therefore, I shouldn't be around prosocial people"). Additional research can better understand the co-occurrence of trauma and self-stigma with its relationship to reintegration after incarceration with hopes of contributing to increased treatment adherence and desistence from crime (Benfer et al., 2023; Fung et al., 2023).

The scale used for self-stigma is separated into three sections (perception, internal, and agreement). Self-stigma begins with a belief that others hold negative views on the group the individual belongs to (perceived stigma). Although perceived stigma did not significantly predict reintegration and community connection through a regression analysis, it was significantly correlated with self-esteem, loneliness, trauma, community connection, and prosocial reintegration. These findings align with previous research showing that perceived stigma is negatively associated with well-being (Holzemer et al., 2009; Link et al., 2001; McWilliams & Hunter, 2021). If the perceived stigma is accepted as accurate, stereotype agreement occurs. Self-stigma agreement was correlated with internalized self-stigma, social support and experiences of trauma. If a stereotype perception and agreement are accepted, the stigma becomes internalized, which can have negative consequences (Corrigan et al., 2006; Moore et al., 2018). As our

findings have demonstrated, internalized self-stigma is correlated with self-esteem, trauma, and post-reintegration. Agreeing with and internalizing stereotypes may increase illegal actions that are consistent with and further confirm beliefs that individuals have about themselves, indicating a need for community support that facilitates inclusion upon release.

The findings in the present study complement the General Strain Theory (Agnew, 1992), which states that factors such as self-esteem and social support can substantially impact criminal involvement. Similarly, Labelling Theory (Becker, 1963) explains that one's self-concept and social connections can be affected by the labels and stigma of society. The present study found that as a participant's self-esteem and perception of social support increase, the level of community connection and prosociality in post-incarceration reintegration increases. These findings demonstrate the need for additional research to examine the importance of fostering self-worth and confidence among women who have experienced incarceration and its association with prosocial reintegration and connection with prosocial community members.

Complementing the need to support the development of women's self-esteem after incarceration, women's social supports upon release were shown to influence their reintegration. Previous research has demonstrated that relationships developed throughout one's life can influence their life trajectory (Mashek et al., 2007). The present study showed that maintaining positive social networks and feeling supported by loved ones upon release can significantly increase the likelihood of prosocial reintegration and community inclusion. Additionally, the findings highlighted the detrimental effects of social isolation on the reintegration process; suggesting that interventions to reduce loneliness could be beneficial to minimizing re-offending.

Limitations and Future Directions

There are notable limitations within the present study. First, responses identified as originating from automated bots were systematically removed from the data set to ensure data integrity (see method section). While this step was necessary to maintain the quality of the data, it may have introduced bias if genuine responses were inadvertently excluded. Future research should implement more advanced techniques to block bot responses and effectively distinguish between authentic and bot responses. Secondly, the outcome variable to measure post-incarceration reintegration was developed for this study and is not a previously validated tool. Due to the limited measures available that assess community re-entry after incarceration rather than recidivism, the Post-Incarceration Reintegration Scale (PIRS) was used. Future research should consider validating instruments that measure community re-entry to ensure that all relevant reintegration aspects are captured.

The current research project contributes to filling the gap in research on the psychological barriers women experience when returning to the community after incarceration; however, additional research is needed. Based on our findings, which indicate that self-esteem, social support, self-stigma, and loneliness are associated with reintegration and community connection, additional research on women's experiences after incarceration is necessary to contribute to desistence. Using a moderator/mediator analysis of the psychological barriers used in the current study with the outcome variables of reintegration and community connection could provide future research with a stronger understanding of the association between variables. Additionally, a longitudinal research study can help to recognize whether there is a need for additional resources that focus on increasing self-esteem, connection, empowerment, and navigating stigma and the impact these supports have on desistence over time. By extending our findings and

demonstrating how to best implement resources that address the psychological barriers identified in the current study, research can contribute to mitigating the impact of barriers for women after incarceration.

Furthermore, increased research is needed that demonstrates gender-based differences in risk factors and challenges after incarceration. Notably, as this study focuses on women, we are unable to make conclusive statements comparing males to females. Therefore, a gap in the literature remains on gender-specific differences in needs and barriers during reintegration. Future research can expand on this study in hopes of contributing to a more robust sample and increasing generalizability. The majority of previous research argues that interventions and risk tools are "gender neutral," yet their sample is often exclusively males or does not disaggregate findings by gender (Gobeil et al., 2016). A meta-analysis by Gobeil et al. (2016) on female offending found that gender-informed interventions were significantly more likely to be associated with reduced recidivism. In consideration of previous research (Holtfreter & Cupp, 2007; Van Voorhis et al., 2008) and the findings in the current study, additional research on "gender-responsive" strategies is needed to better understand the challenges women experience after incarceration and the relationship that psychological barriers may have on desistence.

Chapter 3: Study 2

Although results from Study 1 provide an improved understanding of the association between specific psychological barriers and community reintegration after incarceration, a gap remains in knowing from their perspective how women experience re-entry and what barriers are in place.

With an increased likelihood of experiencing gender-based inequality and victimization, women are at a unique risk of experiencing challenges in mental and emotional wellness,

potentially impacting their involvement with the justice system (Matheson et al., 2008; Ritter et al., 2022). Access to resources such as affordable and safe housing, health care, mental health and substance use support, and clothing are essential to women getting the support they need during reintegration (Wright et al., 2012). Sheppard (2022) found that women's basic needs, such as shelter, food, and safety, were not being met upon release from a Canadian Correctional Center and, in turn, impacted their desistance from crime. Due to the substantial stigma surrounding criminal justice involvement and the relational nature of desistance, participants in the study conducted by Sheppard (2022) reported experiencing an impact on practical elements of desistance, such as securing employment and housing. Although the process of desistance stems from an individual's drive to make prosocial changes (Sheppard, 2022), the changes occur within a patriarchal society that impedes women's success (Alfred & Chlup, 2009).

Although women are a small percentage of the incarcerated population, compared to males, their incarceration rate has drastically increased (de Vogel & Nicholls, 2016; Herring, 2020). The increase in females convicted of a criminal offence has resulted in overcrowding of the five Canadian Regional Women's Correctional Facilities, according to the Office of Correctional Investigation (2016). With a lack of resources available and gender-based inequality upon re-entry, many Canadian women experience the "revolving door syndrome" characterized by being discharged from prison, reimprisoned, and rereleased, with the cycle continuously repeating throughout their lifetime (Blair-Lawton et al., 2020).

Present Study

Expanding on Study 1, which looked at specific psychological barriers upon reintegration, the current study focused on women's experiences of re-entry after incarceration from their perspective. Specifically, we aimed to understand what psychological, structural,

environmental, and gender-based barriers women experience after release from prison.

Consistent with Braun and Clark (2022), the research questions evolved and expanded throughout the research process while remaining guided by the research purpose, understanding women's experiences of re-entry after incarceration.

Positionality

As our identities and their intersections can shape how we engage and understand the world, it is important to acknowledge one's positionality within research with transparency and reflexivity. Jordyn (she/her) is a white female settler born and raised on the traditional territory of the Snuneymuxw First Nation, colonially known as Nanaimo, British Columbia. Jordyn does not have direct experience of having personally been incarcerated. Within this identity comes certain privileges, allowing her to navigate society with a level of safety, autonomy, and opportunity that is often not equally accessible to women who have experienced incarceration. Jordyn acknowledges that this disparity can potentially create power imbalances in the research relationship, which could influence how people participate in research. With that in mind, Jordyn has developed this study through a trauma-informed approach centred around women's strengths and the power of sharing their voices.

Jordyn's work within this field of research is immersive in that she has worked with the community for various years with individuals who are or have been involved in the criminal system. At the time of data collection, Jordyn worked as a health outreach worker, providing harm reduction supplies for safer substance use. However, participants were ensured that confidentiality would be upheld and their access to services was unrelated to their participation. Regarding academic positionality, Jordyn was a Master of Science student in Forensic Psychology at Saint Mary's University in Halifax, Nova Scotia, during the research process. She

has research experience with people who have been incarcerated and has visited numerous prisons and jails across Canada. Jordyn is honoured to have received permission from participants to use this research platform to tell their stories and to be trusted with the opportunity to share their meaningful experiences in hopes of improving the lives of women's reentry after incarceration.

Methodologies and Approach to Qualitative Research

Feminist Research Methodologies. With the idea that gender is the center of inquiry and the research process, feminist methodology recognizes the strengths of women's voices and lived experiences. Feminist research recognizes the importance of hearing from women about their challenges and how this intersects with race, class, sexual orientation, age, and other identities rather than having researchers merely describe women's circumstances on their behalf (Hesse-Biber, 2013). Within feminist methodology, power imbalances are acknowledged, and women are not depicted as powerless and without autonomy. Throughout the research process, feminist research aims to contribute to a decrease in the oppression of women, such as victim-blaming narratives (Olsen, 2007). With a feminist methodology, the present research centers on women's experiences within the broader context of gender, considering women's intersecting identities such as race, socio-economic status, age, and other identities.

Epistemology and Ontology. Critics of feminist research suggest that it represents a homogenous concept of womanhood that is primarily based on the experience of White, western, middle-class women. In consideration of these critiques, a bounded relativism ontology and a social constructivist epistemology were used throughout the research process in recognition that women are a diverse group. Through a bounded relativism approach, the researcher approached the study by recognizing that although one shared reality may exist within a group, it differs

across groups, with women having shared experiences in navigating the patriarchal societal and gender-based barriers (Moon & Blackman, 2014). In terms of the approach to the assumption of knowledge, a social constructivist epistemological approach was used. Underlying the reflexive relationship between knowledge, the process of knowledge production, and those involved in producing such knowledge, by adopting a social constructivist approach, we integrate a recognition of the implications of social contexts (Terkildsen et al., 2022). By understanding that the production of meaning and knowledge is socially constructed through interactions and interpretations, the varying experiences within gender can be better understood as being context-dependent on experiences of intersecting identities (Olsen, 2007; Peck & Mummery, 2018).

Method

Participants and Procedures

Six women participated in the semi-structured interviews. Information was collected on respondents' demographic characteristics such as age, sexual orientation, race, education level, and employment. Participants were between the ages of 18-25 (n=2), 36-45 (n=2), and 46-55 (n=2). Half of the participants did not identify as 2SLGBTQ (n=3; 50.0%), had a college diploma (n=3; 50.0%), and were not currently employed (n=3; 50.0%). Participants identified as Black (n=1; 16.7%), Indigenous (n=2; 33.3%), and White (n=3; 50.0%). Half of the participants were from Nova Scotia (n=3; 50.0%), two were from Ontario (33.3%), and one was from British Columbia (16.7%). The length of time since incarceration varied among participants, with 33.3% having been incarcerated a year ago, 16.7% four years ago, 16.7% seven years ago, 16.7% nine years ago, and one participant replying that "collectively many years over a 25-year span of being caught in the revolving door of incarceration". The majority of individuals in the sample (n=5; 83.3%) indicated that they were incarcerated for a drug-

related offence. When asked about substance use, all participants responded that they used substances during the time of their incarceration; however, the majority (83.3%) responded "never" to if they currently use substances. Demographic information is found in Table 4.

Table 4 Study Demographics and Descriptives (N = 6)

	n	%
Age		
18-25	2	33.3
36-45	2	33.3
46-55	2	33.3
Race		
Black	1	16.7
Indigenous	2	33.3
White	3	50.0
Current province of residence		
British Columbia	1	16.7
Ontario	2	33.3
Nova Scotia	3	50.0
Identify as 2SLGBTQ		
Yes	2	33.3
No	3	50.0
Prefer not to answer	1	16.7
Education level		
Less than high school	1	16.7
Some college or university	2	33.3
College or specialized diploma	3	50.0
Employment		
Full time	2	33.3
Part time	1	16.7
None	3	50.0
How long ago were you incarcerated?		
1 year	2	16.7
3-4 years	1	16.7
6-7 years	1	33.3
8-9 years	1	16.7
Uncertain due to revolving door of incarceration	1	16.7
What crime was your most recent conviction?		
Assault	1	16.7
Drug related offence	5	83.3
How long did you spend in the institution?	<u></u>	
< 1 year	3	50.0
3 years	2	33.3
1-3 years	1	16.7
How often did you drink alcohol or use substances surrounding		10.,
your incarceration?		
Occasionally	2	33.3
o transferred in the second of	-	55.5

Frequently	1	16.7
Very Often	3	50.0
How often do you currently drink alcohol or use substances?		_
Never	5	83.3
Occasionally	1	43.9

Note. Options were not listed in the table if there were no responses.

Prior to the collection of data, ethics approval was obtained from Saint Mary's University Research Ethics Board. To address the research question in Study 2, six participants completed a one-on-one semi-structured interview with 12 questions (Appendix I). Recruitment was conducted alongside Study 1 via posters distributed through email, respondent-driven sampling, and social media. Participants had the choice to do the survey and/or the interview. For anonymity reasons, participation in the survey was independent of the interview and vice versa. Therefore, participation in either method could not be controlled for and counterbalanced. The interviews were approximately one hour on average, ranging from 20 to 96 minutes. Although participants local to the principal investigator were offered the option to participate in person, all participants (N = 6) chose to participate in the study online via Zoom.

Participants were compensated \$10 for participating in the interview. Before the interview, they were asked to complete a demographic form and an informed consent form via Qualtrics. The consent form described the purpose of the study, eligibility, potential risks and benefits of their participation, limits of confidentiality, and the right to withdraw. Additionally, participants were asked to consent to be audio recorded during the interview for transcription purposes and quoted in the final research paper. The audio-recorded interviews were transcribed verbatim. In addition to written consent, before starting the interview, the interviewer provided an overview of the informed consent form and received verbal consent before the participant was audio recorded and quoted. Despite having the option to withdraw from the study at the end of

the interview, no participants did so. After the interview, participants were provided with the debriefing form and were offered the opportunity to email any questions or concerns.

Data Analysis

Reflexivity. A reflective thematic analysis was used in Study 2 as it allows for the data to be analyzed through a contextual understanding when recognizing meaning within the data. Given the inevitable subjectivity within thematic analysis, reflexivity was used throughout the research process, with the researcher reflecting on their assumptions, practices, and how this may influence the data analysis. Notably, subjectivity is viewed as a resource within reflective analysis as it allows for previous knowledge on the topic to be incorporated and, therefore, supports the enrichment of analysis. As suggested by Braun and Clark (2022) as being a critical element to reflexivity, the author used a reflexive journal throughout the research process to document their thoughts, meaning-making, and general reflections. The concept of a reflexive journal is to have an opportunity to reflect on feelings of discomfort, unsettlement, and questions along the research journey to use as a tool for improved thematic analysis. In addition to a research journal, the author had continuous discussions throughout the research process with their supervisor and a research assistant for reflection purposes and to mitigate bias.

Throughout the research process, ethical considerations were made around the researcher's responsibilities to participants and potential power dynamics inherent to research with socially marginalized individuals. Braun and Clarke (2022) proposed that reflexive thematic analysis must consider ethics, politics, and practices as the interpretive nature of thematic analysis is partial, imperfect, and reflects situatedness. By considering intersectionality within the data analysis, we can engage with the participant data through a contextual lens while recognizing privilege and marginalization when making sense of the themes.

Data Analysis Process. The present study used an inductive approach to thematic analysis to find commonalities in data without determining a priori themes. The present study's approach to analysis was guided by Braun and Clarke's (2006; 2022) six-phase thematic analysis, where codes and themes are developed and revised through a continuous process of reviewing the data.

During the first stage, the author immersed themself in the data to gain a stronger understanding of the perspectives of the women who were interviewed. Prior to this step, the author was familiar with the data by conducting all participant interviews and previously having listened to the audio recordings for transcription purposes. That said, in stage one, the author read through paper copies of the transcripts, highlighting any particularly important points raised by the participants, taking brief notes, and writing any analytic ideas. Any important insights were then written in the reflexivity journal.

In the second phase, the author systematically identified portions of data conducive to the research questions, applying code labels to the identified sections. Initial codes were developed using NVivo12, a common qualitative software for sorting and exploring data. A complete coding method was used, rather than a selective coding method, allowing for the inclusion of all relevant information in the sample. Using this method, multiple codes could have been applied to a single unit of data if appropriate. Considering that some codes were easily distinguishable within the data, whereas other codes involved interpreting the latent content of the interview, both latent and semantic codes were used throughout the coding process.

After developing initial codes, the author determined relevant coding labels and identified themes that have central organizing concepts (Braun & Clarke, 2022; Braun & Clarke, 2006). In stage four, themes were constructed. After forming each candidate theme, the author reviewed,

revised, and named the themes to ensure they highlighted the patterns within the dataset. Throughout this process, the author, individually and with her supervisor, reflected on and considered how these themes appropriately represented the broader context surrounding this research focus. To add interpretative depth and clarity, additional structuring of the themes was used by having overarching themes. Overarching themes are umbrella ideas or concepts of various themes. During the initial stages of analysis, 121 codes were found. The author repeated the six steps of thematic analysis suggested by Braun and Clark (2022) until the number and names of codes and themes were finalized. After redefining the codes and themes, 39 codes, 12 themes, and four overarching themes were found. Once the themes were finalized, the author completed the final step of writing the report by weaving together an analytic narrative and data extracts.

Results and Discussion

The reflexive thematic analysis resulted in four overarching themes, with three themes in each of the overarching themes (Table 5). The first overarching theme: Connection as a Pillar of Healing, consisted of three themes: a) relationship challenges upon release, b) seeking and providing a sense of community, and c) navigating community stigma and discrimination. The second theme: Individual Barriers Upon Release, consisted of three themes: a) psychological barriers, b) substance use, and c) returning to a survival-based lifestyle. The third theme:

Structural and Systemic Barriers, consisted of three themes: a) navigating an unjust system, b) an unrealistic release plan and limited resources, and c) sexualization and male relationships. Lastly, the fourth theme: Ways Forward, consisted of three themes: a) needs for desistence, b) advice for women by women, and c) resilience and the future. All themes are reviewed in detail below. To maintain participants' privacy, any identifiable information has been removed in the following

quotes, and participants were provided with an alphanumeric code, which will be used throughout the paper. For clarity, filler words such as "like" and "um" have been removed in the quotes below and shortened quotes will be noted with ellipses.

Table 5

Themes for Navigating Reintegration	Description	Markers for Reintegration (Codes)
	Connection as a Pillar of Healing (Overarching Ther	me 1)
Relationship challenges	Influence of relationships, positive or negative, on reintegration	 Parenting challenges Repairing family relationships Conditional support Need connections to be reflective of desired lifestyle
Seeking/providing community	Cultivating social connections to create a feeling of community	 Receiving peer support Providing peer support Unity and belonging Feeling heard and trusted Empathy to all
Community stigma and discrimination	Experiencing societal marginalization due to negative public perception of those who have been incarcerated	 Navigating societal labels Social media informing judgement Impacts on housing Ability to be authentic self
	Individual Barriers Upon Release (Overarching Then	me 2)
Psychological barriers	Emotional and mental challenges experienced after reintegration	 Feeling lost and overwhelmed Loneliness Low self-esteem Self-stigma, shame and guilt
Substance use	Direct and indirect impacts of substance use and addiction on reintegration	Power of addictionSubstance use to ease painOverdose and loss
Returning to a survival-based lifestyle	Impact of not having basic needs met on self- fulfilment and needing to return to their previous lifestyle	Returning to the life you knewSurvival lifestyle

	Structural and Systemic Barriers (Theme 3)	
Navigating an unjust system	Consideration of gender identity and respect toward women	TraumaCorrectional staff mistreatment
An unrealistic release plan and limited resources	Release plans needing to be reflective of obstacles upon release and resources available	 "How" not "what" The need for realistic plans The solution
Sexualization and male relationships	Societal emphasis on females' appearances, relationships, and sexualization	Navigating relationships impacting crimeSexualization of women
	Ways Forward (Theme 4)	
Needs for desistence	Protective factors that support prosocial reintegration into the community	FamilyProsocial personal traitsFinding a sense of purpose
Advice for women by women	Participants' reflections on lessons learnt, what they wish they knew, and what they would say to those currently reintegrating	 You are not your past: look at the bigger picture Be kind to yourself
Resilience and the future	Adapting to adversities and the impact on perspective	Knowledge is powerHopeLooking toward the futureResilience

Overarching Theme 1: Connection as a Pillar of Healing

Relationship Challenges Upon Release

"She just needed someone to love her" (B02)

Previous research indicates that those who received visits during their incarceration are 13% less likely to be reconvicted for a federal offence following their release from prison and are 25% less likely to be reconvicted for a technical violation on parole compared to those who do not receive visitations from loved ones during incarceration (Wang, 2021). In the present study, women frequently discussed the influence that relationships had on the trajectory of their reentry and the obstacles that they had to overcome in rebuilding and developing their connections. Participants shared how they were uncertain about how to best navigate relationship challenges upon release, demonstrating the need for relational programming during and after incarceration that addresses the realistic challenges. This theme was composed of codes such as parenting challenges, repairing family relationships, support being conditional, and connections needing to be reflective of your desired lifestyle.

Considering approximately two-thirds of women who are incarcerated have children, with an average of four children (Kouyounmdjian et al., 2016; Mallicoat, 2014), women's incarceration has substantial impacts on the family system (Paynter et al., 2022). With only five women's prisons across Canada, families have a greater distance to travel to visit their mothers and therefore, a substantial decrease in connection often occurs (Office of Correctional Investigation, 2016). Women described the overwhelming feeling of sadness being apart from their children and the impact that incarceration had on their relationships with family. When discussing how the first few moments felt being away from her child, a participant said, "I had to give him to my mom. That was the worst feeling ever was to not see him" (D04), which was also reflected by another participant who said,

"you're sentenced to two years federal time, and then the sheriffs come in. I thought I was going to be able to hug my kids [long pause], [cries]. Yeah, it still hurts a lot after all this time. So, I couldn't, and because they take you right out there, you're handcuffed, and you're taken down into this cold cell to wait... That was a really hard day" (E05).

In addition to women experiencing substantial emotional challenges in parental connections, they discussed the challenges that they experienced within their broader family relationships and how they navigated repairing familial relationships to allow for collective healing. Challenging family dynamics surrounding the individual's incarceration can cause strain on the pre-carceral relationship, and therefore, repairing that relationship can take time and patience. Arditti (2003) found that this strain might develop from the actions that led to their imprisonment, as loved ones may struggle to accept the complex history of criminal involvement. One participant stated, "Not everybody has a lot of people though when they walk out of incarceration. They don't. They burnt the bridges with family. They've burnt bridges with friends" (B02). When discussing the complexities of healing family relationships, a participant said, "I shared drugs with my oldest daughter, we used together. I hold a lot of guilt for that. Like, there's so much guilt with addiction...I don't know, it's just deep. It's just really deep" (E05). The strain on relationships can also develop from the often-extensive amount of lost time during incarceration, therefore impeding opportunities for bonding and connection.

"I felt more guilt and shame for not being able to focus on them, but I couldn't heal the relationships if I wasn't healed myself. And I think it's hard, it was hard for them too- to kind of take that in. It was really hard to even be involved with the grandchildren again.

And (removed name), she was a baby when I went inside, she was nine months old. And I

was like, Oh, my God, she's not going to know me. And I just had a lot of [pauses] I had a lot of responsibility. And it was really overwhelming" (E05).

Women explained that due to the impact of incarceration, they had to provide their loved ones with the space to heal and the opportunity to process their relationship with the incarcerated individual. According to the participants, patience and understanding are important factors when rebuilding relationships, and even though "getting trust back takes time" (D04), having a supportive connection is worth it. When discussing what she feels is most important during reintegration, a participant said,

"Don't push the relationships with family just because you're coming out and you feel like you want all this stuff back that you lost, like, the relationship with the children and parents and siblings and, you know, your family. Don't push it. Give people space to kind of adjust. I know sometimes it can be a real letdown. People come out, oh, I'm free now, and I just want to get together with my family and build those connections, and then they're hit with the door slammed in their face because people are still hurt. They haven't really gotten over it just because you're doing something different, there's still stuck, or maybe you've done stuff and worked on yourself, and they still haven't dealt with it because it's just how it is sometimes. Just give rebuilding relationships time; don't rush it. Snail's pace, and it'll all pay off" (C03).

Rather than supportive of their growth and healing, women reported that relationships upon release were often conditional or dependent on their criminal-based lifestyle.

"In the substance use world, the friends aren't really friends, you know, some of them might be, but if they're using, then they're not in your best interest. So, being able to find healthy relationships and people you can count on is tough. It's tough." (A01)

In addition to challenges with friendships upon release, women shared difficulties they had in their relationships with correctional staff such as probation or parole officers. Due to what they characterized as the conditional nature of their relationships with correctional staff, participants described feeling that the support they received was not beneficial to their healing as they felt unable to seek help in navigating challenges such as substance use cravings, family dynamics, and stigma. As a result, their re-entry success was impacted. As a participant explained, "It's also hard to say to your PO, I feel like getting high right now" (C03).

Participants discussed that the key to living a prosocial lifestyle upon release is connecting with others and avoiding unhealthy connections. As stated by a participant, "If you don't want to be incarcerated, stay away from bad people" (B02). Having a supportive person around when navigating challenging times can provide an individual with the tools to overcome challenges. Women explained the importance of surrounding yourself with people who reflect the lifestyle you strive for and allowing them to help you envision your future.

"Try to follow the people that have the life you want to live. That was the big thing somebody told me, and I really kind of stuck with that. Like letting go of the old friends and opening up if you meet someone. Maybe they're doing work you want to do, or they're just living the life you want to live, follow those people who might be able to help steer you in the right direction. Designing. I know, that really works for me" (C03).

Seeking and Providing a Sense of Community

"I was very fortunate because I got the hope from the people that I surround myself with" (E05)

Cultivating social connections can help to develop a sense of belonging while creating a feeling of purpose and promoting resilience (Mashek et al., 2007). Many women who participated in the study expressed how providing and receiving community support, often through peer support work, is incredibly healing. Peer support is commonly seen in the substance

use recovery community and continues to grow in correctional settings. Aligning with the present study, Palis et al. (2024) found that peer support provides individuals' with hope, an opportunity to build relationships, receive support, and allow for healing connections that reflect individual's needs and priorities. This theme was composed of codes such as receiving peer support, providing peer support, healing through unity and belonging, feeling heard and trusted, and empathy to all.

Illustrating this theme, one participant stated, "Peer support is the key to change" (E05). Those incarcerated often experience marginalization and stigmatization from a community that developed their knowledge of those who are incarcerated through books, movies, or social media. Peer support provides individuals with an opportunity to be supported by others who have direct experience in the criminal justice system and truly understand the challenges, "having those voices of lived experience is so important. So much stuff you can't learn from a book, and you only really can learn from actually being through it" (B02).

Participants reinforced the need for peer support and resources throughout the re-entry process to allow individuals a safe space to share regardless of where they are at in their criminal justice involvement. When speaking about one of her initial experiences with a peer group, a participant said, "It was so raw. You could share anything, and it was almost like, sometimes I just had to say the word crack. Because it's such a powerful demon. That it just felt good to release it" (E5). Another participant reflected on her experience in court, where she was in the final stages of being admitted into wellness court until her male co-accused was acquitted. Therefore, her application was rejected, and she was sentenced to federal incarceration. When reflecting on that experience and how having a peer support person impacted the trajectory of her path, she stated:

"I just remember that feeling that day. I was shaking all over. I told [wellness court staff], I said I have to go outside I need a cigarette. And I was sitting on the bench, and I was like, fuck me, like, I can't catch a break, you know. And I picked up my phone, and I dialled a member in NA instead of calling the drug dealer because that's really what I wanted to do. Because I'm like, well, I'm going inside, might as well...So I called her" (E05)

Participants shared about how peer-led groups were a pillar in their healing upon release as they felt acceptance and received unconditional love and support. Women discussed the benefits of receiving support from peers who truly understand the process of re-entry and can speak from their own experiences, "I chose her because she was incarcerated. I chose her because she's spitting image of me. She understands it because she's been to jail too" (D4). When reflecting on an experience that she had after going into a crowded mall for the first time shortly after her release and how it felt to share about it in a peer group, a participant said, "People knew because half of them were ex-offenders. They knew that feeling when I went into the mall that day. They knew. I didn't have to try and find the words to express it. And it was, it was just that, that was healing" (E5).

Reflecting on the mutual benefit to peer work and the unique relationship it provides, a participant said, "Having someone else alongside you too. It wasn't just about me, it was about them, too, and I think that kind of keeps us both in check" (B2). Peer support can be incorporated as a component of reintegration after incarceration for the benefit of the individual providing the service and the one accessing the service (McLuhan et al., 2023). Supporting the current study's findings, previous research has indicated that having a strength-based approach to service delivery through peer support work allows individuals to experience positive self-identity

transformations (Gillard et al., 2014; McLuhan et al., 2023; Palis et al., 2024), "it was very life-changing for me to be able to do peer work" (B2). Peer work promotes a feeling of reciprocal hope and an opportunity to redefine themselves based on positive aspects of their life, such as their ability to support others. As one participant said,

"I started working as a peer support, and by doing that, that was the single most important thing that I did for my healing because it's- peer support is not counselling it's not that one-sided. It's two people coming together because you have a shared experience. So, I got to share every time I spoke to someone, so that's how I healed" (E5).

Participants discussed how peer work allowed them to heal their negative self-image and give back to the community by being the support system that they needed when they were re-entering the community. Women shared about their journey of navigating the guilt and shame that they felt reflecting on their criminal justice involvement and their hope to mitigate that for others. When discussing peer work, a participant shared,

"That really drives me to keep doing this work, pulling people out of the shadows and trying to support people and try to take out the guilt and share my story lots so I can, hopefully, try to take some of the guilt and shame away from other people so that they can be able to see that, you can turn it into positive, and I try to encourage so many people to get involved in peer work because it's just been so life-changing for me" (B2).

Although the primary goal of peer support work is to help others who are incarcerated, women spoke about how peer work allowed them to feel connected to the community in a positive and prosocial manner. One participant shared how peer work allowed her to reestablish relationships

with correctional staff and heal by doing so. When reflecting on her experience doing peer support with women at a correctional facility, a participant shared,

"They've invited me in even into the facility. I can just walk in. It feels so good. And the warden came up to me and shook my hand. She was like, hi, nice to meet you. And I'm like, you know who I am?" (E05).

Additionally, participants spoke about how peer work provided them with a space where they were heard and understood rather than the common experience of being instructed on what to do.

"The [peer organization name] just looked at me, they're like, just take a breath, what do you need right now? No one had asked me that. People told me what I should need. And people told me that this is what you need to do. But no one asked what I needed" (E05).

Expanding from peer work, a sense of community can be felt in various relationships throughout one's life when belonging, trust, and understanding are present. Participants shared about how feeling as though they are heard and trusted by the community has incredible healing properties and increases their desire for prosocial connections.

"Being trusted again is a phenomenal feeling. I can't even express it. It made me feel so good to know that I was actually helping the community again. Because before, I was the one that was in need. Two Christmases ago, I was begging for help. This Christmas, I helped three families. It's a huge change, it feels good. It took me a while to get here, mind you. It took me six years to get here. But I'm here now. And it feels better". (D4) With substantial stigma associated with women who have been involved in the criminal justice system (Sheppard, 2022), feeling heard and seen by community members can increase an individual's self-efficacy and drive for a positive lifestyle change. When asked how community members can support women during their re-entry after incarceration, a participant stated,

"Listening to people, having people be seen and heard... I always tell people that you need to see people and actually hear what they're saying... let people talk, and they want to be seen, they want to be heard, they want to be valued. And actually hear them, like, letting them tell their story, or letting them share their experience. And you don't have to have some grandiose reply, but just, like, let them know they're heard" (B02).

This participant's advice for community members to truly listen to those previously incarcerated applies to staff working with those who are incarcerated as well. Another participant reflected on an experience she had shortly after release from incarceration; she was able to see the common dichotomy of "us vs them" disintegrate as she no longer felt like an outsider.

"This gets me all emotional too... Because you're quite raw when you first come out, right? That's how you feel. Every little thing, almost like, causes pain, whether it's emotional, sometimes it's even physical. Anyways [participant's trial judge] came over to me, and he shook my hand. And he just told me how proud he was. And it was funny because even though we weren't in a meeting, I didn't feel like he was above me. You know, there's something about a [removed peer organization name] meeting that it doesn't matter who you are - you could be the queen, or not the queen, the king? And it doesn't matter because we're all here" (E5).

Participants spoke with empathetic understanding and a nonjudgmental tone about other individuals regardless of how they were treated by them. Participants shared their admiration for healthcare workers, those currently incarcerated, correctional staff, and general community members. One participant shared about the unjust treatment she experienced from her parole officer that she described as "*emotional abuse*" yet despite the unfair treatment, the participant spoke about her parole office with empathy and understanding,

"She's not trying to make my life hard. She worked with men for 25 years before women, she has seen the worst in humanity. 25 years male federal offenders in Canada. There's no way she hasn't seen stuff that she wishes she had never experienced... So, like, I know that she's just doing her job. She did it for 25 years with, like, probably an intimidating crowd. There's a reason she's so hard" (C03).

The immense empathy that the women had for others was also seen in the way they spoke about men and the challenges that they believe men experience during reintegration. Although all women spoke about abuse and harm that they experienced from males in their lives (see Theme: Sexualization and male relationships), they displayed kindness and understanding of the hardships that men also experience.

"The guys talk about being scared and not knowing where to turn... But I don't know how it is on the street for them because they'd have to acknowledge it. "Yeah I want to I want to become whole". Can you imagine on (street name removed) going up to somebody saying, "I'm feeling lost and I really want to be my authentic self and I want to talk about how I'm feeling and how sad and scared I am". Can you imagine a man saying that? And it's sad that they can't. And I mean there's exceptions to everything. They could probably go to (removed organization name) and talk to someone. But I'm talking on a community level" (E05).

Navigating Community Stigma and Discrimination

"I don't want to be a token of incarceration" (C03)

Those who have a history of criminal justice involvement are susceptible to being perceived as dangerous, untrustworthy, and manipulative, resulting in experience of discrimination and societal marginalization (Moore et al., 2018; Sheppard, 2022). Consistent with labelling theory, participants recalled their experiences of stigmatization from the public,

which impacted their involvement with prosocial community members and altered their path to healing. This theme was composed of codes such as navigating societal labels, social media informing judgement, impacts on housing, and impacts on the ability to be their authentic selves.

LeBel (2012) found that women who have been incarcerated were at an increased likelihood of being discriminated against compared to men who have been incarcerated. The stigma experienced from incarceration overlaps with the public's opinion of females incarcerated, parenting in prison, their offence, and other factors (Sheppard et al., 2022). When discussing the public's perception of women who have been incarcerated, one participant stated, "Once you're a criminal, you're a criminal" (C03). Women shared that the public saw them as "dangerous" and an "outcast" (F06) regardless of the changes that they made, "I was just always known as like that crackhead that turned her life around" (C03). Another participant shared, "How do you start your life over when you're always known as the girl who like overdosed her kid?" (C03).

Society holds preconceived notions toward those who have been convicted of criminal offences despite varying levels of education and experiences with the population (Sheppard, 2022). Despite the public being misinformed, women shared that discrimination against those incarcerated is universally accepted, "that stigma is more of an uneducated stigma. It's almost a morally okay stigma" (C03). Participants shared that the negative way that they are perceived by the public largely stems from society being misinformed about the criminal justice system through social media platforms. "Prison's weird. It's a place that everyone wants to know about. Everyone wants to see the inside, but probably only like 1% of the Canadian population does other than the like W5 episode or something" (C03). A participant shared that she alters the language she uses when talking about prison because of the negative associations the public has

with crime on social media. She said she does not like "words that people associate quickly with a show like Prison Break or Orange is the New Black" (C03). Trying to learn about the criminal justice system and specific people who have offended through social media platforms provides a narrow perspective that promotes a misrepresentation of crime and ostracizes those with previous convictions. "If you Google [removed participant name], it's not the most forgiving Google results. It's not gonna ever change...I've tried to scrub the internet. I literally have tried to look into so many ways to get rid of it" (C03). Media platforms aim to catch viewers' attention by portraying crime through an entertainment lens, which often "makes you look more sinister" (C03) which can impact reentry and survival necessities.

Because of the stigma and the lack of understanding that the public has regarding the correctional process, an individual's reintegration is impacted by barriers to their freedoms, housing, employment, relationships, and additional challenges (Sheppard, 2022).

"The other thing that's hard is my Google search result like finding a job and even finding housing, you have every right to Google the person you're going to rent to. And mine shows up like [information removed for anonymity] charged with trafficking heroin. The articles were so incorrect and so biased, and they're just so bad. I look like a complete piece of shit in them, and those aren't going anywhere" (C3).

When speaking about her experience in securing housing, a participant said,

"I met this woman she said, I knew as soon as I saw you that you would be the one for here, but I do have to tell you something. I'm like, okay. She goes the people cross the street, they have cops there, and I think they're a bunch of junkies over there, a bunch of criminals...Like really? Thank you for the warning. And I got the apartment" (E5)

In fear of judgement and discrimination, participants shared that they are not comfortable in being their authentic selves and have to alter who they are in order to be accepted into society. Participants illustrated how community stigma impacts authenticity, saying, "I have to pretend I'm something that I'm not" (E05) and "You can't honestly be your authentic self on parole" (C03). Participants shared how they were "isolated from the community," and in order to fit in, they had to act as a "chameleon" and "present myself like I'm not struggling." Various women spoke about the impact that their appearance had on their reintegration. Previous literature focuses on self-image during reintegration however, research is limited on how one's perceived appearance impacts whether a woman's reintegration will be prosocial.

"I did find that I had an advantage over some other people because of the masks I wear.

I'm very good at presenting myself in a different light...I can do my hair and my makeup and put on nice clothes, borrow my daughter's car, and go look at an apartment" (E05).

Despite altering one's appearance allowing them to fit in, not being able to be their authentic self was described as "exhausting. It's exhausting trying to pretend that everything's good and you're doing okay" (E06).

To summarize the importance of connection with community members and considerations on how best to move forward as a collective group toward a crime-free society, a participant stated,

"How am I going to heal? That word- it is thrown around a lot, and what does it mean?

And how is the community going to help me do this? What is their part in all this? That's why I like when [Gabor Mate] talks about how we used to be as a community, as a village and how everybody pitched in. Somebody's sick, or somebody is mentally ill, let's look at this. What are we not doing? Instead of, what are they doing? ...But we don't

really have a sense of community I don't find. I didn't feel it. And I don't feel it now. It seems like it's just a bunch of separate entities living in one spot. Not really a community" (E05).

Overarching Theme 2: Individual Barriers Upon Release

Psychological Barriers

"I'm not a bad person trying to get good, I'm a sick person trying to get well" (E05)

Experiences of gender inequity can substantially impact mental and emotional wellness as it can contribute to negative coping strategies such as substance use and, in turn, can influence reoffending (Canadian Women's Foundation, 2014; Wright et al., 2012). This theme was composed of codes such as feeling lost and overwhelmed, loneliness, low self-esteem, self-stigma, and shame and guilt.

Women are socialized to adhere to specific behaviours such as sexist work environments, lower wages, gender roles in relationships, and other disparities that influence a woman's mental wellness. Participants described feeling overwhelmed and lost immediately after their release from prison as they tried to navigate continuous hurdles. A meta-analysis by Stanton et al. (2016) found that women released from prison and jail experience high levels of psychological trauma, substance use disorders, motherhood challenges, and a need for support. "To come out of jail, it's like, you're lost" (D04). Women shared that since they are isolated from the rest of society during incarceration, when they are released they feel overwhelmed with the freedom that they have and the obligations that coincide. "At first, no, I had no hope. I was terrified... I don't know what it's like to be outside again" (D04). When describing how it would feel to re-enter the community after numerous years of being incarcerated, a woman shared,

"What if there's somebody coming out after 15 years? They're not even going to know how to use a cell phone. Or you know, do the self-checkouts at Walmart. I had a woman

say to me that she was in Walmart, she couldn't find the way out because back in the day, you walked by the people that were checking out you just walked by and went out. And she goes- I was in this lineup, and I didn't have anything to pay for, and it was just overwhelming" (E05).

Without sufficient resources to support the transition into the community, women described feeling unable to ask for support, "I just find it hard to ask for help. So, it was a bit overwhelming. It really was. Like taking the bus, I was like, Oh, my heart would be pounding-anxiety" (E05).

Women expressed feeling overwhelmed through their healing journey however, in order to heal and live a prosocial life, they felt a need to isolate from connections they had prior to incarceration. "Stay away from the people that you hung out with. Start new friends- have new friends, everything will be fine. Or just be by yourself. It's lonely, but after a while, you'll be fine" (D04). Similar to previous research, the present study found that women felt lonely and estranged from prosocial supports and alienated from the larger society (Kidd & Davidson, 2007; Shanker et al., 2019; Sheppard, 2022). With such a strong focus on daily survival and community discrimination, individuals who were incarcerated may experience difficulty in building and maintaining supportive relationships, feeling that their new lifestyle choices and restrictions were a "burden" (C03; Perron et al., 2014). "Kinda lonely. But that's just how it is now" (D04).

Experiencing stigma and isolation can substantially impact one's self-esteem. Women described how the way the community treats those who have experienced criminal justice involvement impacted their self-worth. When speaking about her experience being involved in the criminal justice system for 19 years, a participant spoke about the impact of stigma,

"people walking by, and it's like, they don't even see you, or they look to you with disgust. And then after, you're faced with that for so many years, it really starts to impact the way you're looking at yourself and if you feel valued and, lack of feeling- lack of value in your community or even in the world at all" (B02).

Previous research has found that low self-esteem and dissatisfaction with life are predicted by the perception of stigmatization from others (LeBel, 2008). Participants shared how "most women will come out with low self-esteem" (B02). Women shared how navigating issues of self-esteem is a barrier for many women who were incarcerated. "I think we're all on, not the same journey, but a similar journey through our self-esteem and kind of processing our feelings about ourselves" (D04). Another participant shared that,

"I see low self-esteem being a huge barrier. And that feeling worthless, like a throwaway.

That was a common line I used to always say is, I just felt like a throwaway" (B02)

In our patriarchal society, the high beauty standards that women are held to can have profound impacts on their lives and re-entry (Sheppard, 2022). Participants described how incarceration directly impacts self-image, such as weight and teeth loss. For some women, incarceration is a time when their basic needs (i.e. food and shelter) are finally being met and therefore, your appearance changes. "A lot of women that get thrown out of jail get fat in jail. And a lot of them deal with a lot of body image when they get out. And like the number one thing is they get their clothes from their house, and nothing fits" (C03). With appearance substantially impacting how women are perceived in our society, resources are needed to enhance feelings of empowerment and self-worth. Previous research has found that art, education, and other prosocial activities offered during and after incarceration can enhance feelings of confidence, self-esteem and empowerment (Evans et al., 2018; Merrill & Frigon, 2015; Sheppard, 2022).

Enhancing self-esteem and self-empowerment can substantially reduce the influence of self-stigma. Believing that the public negatively perceives those who have been incarcerated can influence self-perception (Evans et al., 2018; Sheppard, 2022). Demonstrating the need for additional supports that work to combat self-stigma by encouraging positive achievements and behaviour, women shared about the impact that self-stigma has on reintegration. Illustrating the impact of self-stigma, a participant shared, "They see incarcerated people as very dangerous people in society who deserve more punish. So I did see myself that way" (F06).

As previously stated, self-stigma is described in the literature as a three-step process (Moore et al., 2018). Self-stigma begins with perceived stigma, which is the awareness that the public has negative perceptions of a group they belong to. It is then followed by stereotype agreement (public stigma is described in theme 3, navigating community stigma; Moore et al., 2018). Women shared that they struggled with self-stigma, believing that the stigma from the public is a true representation of themselves.

"I went over to the mall...because I was so excited to go shopping, I walked in, and I couldn't do it. I couldn't walk any further. It just felt like everybody knew. And so, I was there for maybe five minutes, and then I had to leave. It was really overwhelming" (E05). If stigma is internalized, it can lead to feelings of hopelessness, which can be detrimental to prosocial reintegration.

"I think like my self-esteem went downhill, and I think that a lot of other women's have gone downhill as well from being incarcerated and then coming out... Who is going to hire me? Who is going to allow me to be in their place after I've done such a crime? ... Who's gonna think they can hire me now? I can't get a job, and all I did was steal tampons because I needed them" (D04).

Another participant shared about her challenges with "imposter syndrome" as she transitioned into the workforce after being incarcerated, "I would always think other people were judging me, but honestly, it was myself judging other people thinking that they were judging me" (B02).

Experiences of self-stigma contributed to feelings of shame and guilt during reintegration, which women said impacted their healing process, "I didn't want anybody to know that I had been inside and by doing that, I couldn't really grow or heal from it" (E05). Women shared that the adjustment process after incarceration was challenging as they were navigating new responsibilities to have a prosocial life while also trying to heal. "Just adjusting to everything was really tough, just the feelings and the emotions... I keep bringing up the guilt and shame because that was a huge thing for me" (B02). Despite the praise that can be received from being "in recovery" from substance use, women described the parallels with having been justice-involved and the shame that coincides.

"There was a lot of shame and guilt. My charge was trafficking a Schedule One drug, it was crack...I wanted to hide that kind of part of myself. I was very proud to say I was a recovering addict because ... when you say you're in recovery, everybody tells you how good that is and that they're so proud of you. But when you say you're an ex-offender, doesn't have the same effect. And I found that the first question everybody asks is, what do you do? What were you in for? And then that would start kind of my guilt and shame all over again" (E05).

When describing what she is the proudest of in her reintegration process, a participant said, "Lots of stuff I'm proud of. Just I think letting go of that shame and stuff was a huge thing" (B02).

Substance Use

"My addiction was everything. I call it the drug of no choice, and it was crack" (E05).

The incarceration of women has drastically increased over the years, with drug offences accounting for nearly half of the crimes (Adams et al., 2008). Breaking the revolving cycle of substance use and crime is largely contingent on identifying gender-responsive strategies to provide the strongest resources and support available (Herring, 2020; Holtfreter & Cupp, 2007). Women shared that substance use substantially impacted their experience of reintegration after being incarcerated. This theme was composed of codes such as the power of addiction, substance use to ease pain, and overdose and loss.

Correctional Services of Canada found that three-quarters of federally sentenced women have a substance use problem (MacDonald, 2014). Buchanan et al. (2011) found that 82% of provincially sentenced women self-identify as using substances. The present study found that all of the women interviewed reported substance use challenges and that addiction had a direct impact on their entry and re-entry into incarceration, "most of the times when I was going to jail, I was intoxicated. That's just normal for anybody that goes into prisons. It's from that reason" (D04). A participant described the power of addiction by saying,

"I feel like active addiction really takes control, it really makes you go inside. That's what gets people in a lot of trouble. Because you've just got to find your next fix... A lot of people that are incarcerated are addicts. So, like, you know, they do anything and everything to get their fix. I can't say I would never do that because that would be a lie. I used to do whatever it took to get my next fix. Stealing, anything, like anything. Mine was.. anything literally, I can't even explain it. It's hard. It's hard" (D04).

Women described that during incarceration, the fear of relapsing increases, "When I went inside, I really wasn't scared of losing my freedom, I was afraid of relapse. That's what I was afraid of.

Because as soon as I relapse, all that shits all going to come back, and I'll be in the cycle again,

and criminal activity" (E05). The control of addiction can be overpowering, especially with high amounts of substance inside prisons, "Well, I'm going inside. Might as well" (E05).

Khantzian (2017) explains how individuals use substances to relieve feelings of pain and distress. Women shared about the immense pain they felt leaving incarceration due to feelings of shame, stigma, and past trauma and substances relieved that pain momentarily. "I come out of jail, and I said, let's go get high. Right off the hop. That was the only thing we could do to ease the pain of whatever the fuck we were going through at that time" (D04). Another participant shared how substance mitigated the challenges she faced during reentry by saying,

"You don't have any money. You don't have a place to live. You don't have a job so that you can make money. Wouldn't you want to escape from that? From that feeling? From that loneliness?" (E05).

Fazel et al. (2006) found that women in prison are up to 10 times more likely to struggle with addiction than women in the general population. With a strong relationship between addiction and trauma, it is not surprising that 95% of individuals who have been incarcerated have experienced trauma (Komarovskaya et al., 2011). Khantzian (2017) argues that the root of addiction is suffering and pain rather than pleasure-seeking. Therefore, people seek substances to relieve their pain (Khantzian, 2017). "When you get out, it's like, oh, yeah, so I can't use drugs, but I can't- You know, I can't navigate this world" (E05). They shared that due to continuously experiencing obstacles, "some women will have a couple week bender and go back" (B02). When describing how she developed "abandonment issues" from an estranged relationship with her parents and witnessing her father attempt suicide, a participant shared that

"People.. don't dare talk about trauma. It seems to be this.. 'Okay, we'll just acknowledge it and let's move on'. Like hey 'don't use drugs'. Did they once ask me why I started using drugs? I believe addiction is rooted in trauma" (E05).

Women discussed the impact that incarceration had on substance use tolerance and how they experienced losing loved ones, such as their children, friends, and partners, from illicit drug toxicity (overdose) deaths. A participant spoke about women that she knew and how within the last few years, "six women have overdosed the week they finished parole. And like they're poor families who got their daughter back for a couple years" (C03). In British Columbia, illicit drug toxicity (overdose) deaths are the leading cause of death for individuals aged 10 - 59 (Gan et al., 2021). "I had lost hundreds of people, I have friends and acquaintances, and people I worked with, and people I've worked alongside over the years" (B02). People leaving incarceration are at an increased risk of experiencing a fatal overdose due to their decreased tolerance (Palis et al., 2024), "scary. Like, it's like you're fucking with a drug that your tolerance isn't - like you just can't" (C03). Illustrating the need for wraparound services and resources to support women with substance use issues during the transition into the community, a participant shared,

"There were so many women that I knew from (removed city name) from the drug scene...Most of the women that have died of drug overdoses I was in jail with died the week of their W.E.D. Their warrant expired, and they died that week" (C03).

Returning to a Survival Based Lifestyle

"You don't have the ability to think about consequences or to think about healing. It's survival" (E05).

Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs recognizes the importance of basic needs such as safety, food, and shelter as the foundation for all other successes (Hopper, 2020). Without women's basic needs met with support from correctional facilities in the transition after incarceration, it is

challenging for women to have their self-fulfillment and psychological needs met (Hopper, 2020). Without all these needs met to support their success, the cycle of recidivism may continue with criminal activities to secure survival-based necessities (Wright et al., 2012). Women shared that during their reentry after incarceration, they often returned to a lifestyle that they were familiar with, which was one where they had to be in a constant state of survival. This theme was composed of codes such as returning to the life you knew and survival lifestyle.

Women shared that after incarceration, they were returning to the same conditions and limitations that they had when they left, which were composed of challenging family dynamics, mental health and substance use issues, poverty, and other challenges. When speaking about challenges other women have when returning to the same environment, a participant said,

"When they get out, their man is still selling drugs, or their mom and dad are still drunk or whatever, just all of those environments. And they're so unhealthy. And they know they are but where else? They have to go back to their family because they don't have any choices" (E05).

One participant explained how poverty increases women's vulnerability to survival-based crime, such as sex work.

"I support women in the sex trade if that's what their choice is to do, but there's just so many women who might not normally make that choice, but because they're vulnerable, and they're using substances, they get taken advantage of so often. They get taken advantage by other people in the community, drug dealers, just average men" (B02).

Previous research has found that due to the stigma and job prospects of those previously incarcerated, women are more inclined to turn to sex work (Sheppard & Ricciardelli, 2020). A participant explained that immediately upon release, women are continuously put into taxis

where they are solicited for sex, "You have nowhere to go, no money and you have these people that will come and proposition women, and when they're at their weakest they can be taken advantage of" (B02).

Leverentz (2014) found that despite professionals requiring women who have been incarcerated to avoid people or places that can increase their return to previous habits, this may be incredibly challenging for some individuals who return to the same environment. A participant shared about a recent experience she had where she was repeatedly called by a previous "friend" offering her substances. After numerous calls being ignored, the individual showed up at her home with drugs, illustrating the temptation to return to a previous lifestyle when the environment is the same. "You go right back to the same people. It really is the same thing over and over again" (D04), with another participant describing survival crime as, "after so many years of that, it is all you know, so it is kind of what you go to" (B02). With identical conditions upon release, participants discussed how women struggle with feeling a sense of hope and, therefore, return to the lifestyle they know. "It's hard. It's difficult. That's why you keep going back to jail. Because you just don't know how to live a normal life outside of jail" (D04).

Overarching Theme 3: Structural and Systemic Barriers

Navigating an Unjust System

"How do you deal with disappointment from the correctional system? You're consistently disappointed" (C03).

Recognizing women's unique needs, regulatory boards (i.e. Canadian Psychological Association, 2007; Canadian Association of Occupational Therapists et al., 2024) developed guidelines outlining the need to consider gender identity through an understanding that practices often have ignored and pathologized women's experiences. Furthermore, the Human Rights Act and Correctional Services Act require all corrections employees to treat those incarcerated with

respect, dignity, and courtesy (Correctional Services Regulations, 2017). Regardless of the requirements, women shared that they were not treated with respect and instead suffered trauma and unfair treatment during incarceration. This theme was composed of codes such as trauma and correctional staff mistreatment.

Women explained how they were treated unfairly while they were incarcerated, with one participant saying, "Oh my god, that place'll fuck you up" (C03). Participants described how they were treated as "inhumane," sharing about how they were denied their medications, were denied appropriate clothing, dismissed after confiding in staff about losing a loved one, and experienced abuse from staff. "My distrust with CSC started when they were supposed to support me as a victim" (C03). One woman shared about experiencing sexual assault while incarcerated and feeling that the correctional staff did not appropriately respond to the violence and instead encouraged the assault. Another woman shared about a peer who was mistreated upon her entry into prison. Prior to the woman's arrest, she witnessed the murder of her husband, and she was also shot during the same incident. Due to the woman's injuries, she was placed into segregation upon entering prison, where she was denied counselling support and instead was alone and isolated. With an immense power dynamic impacting the relationship between the correctional staff and their clients, women felt unable to advocate for themselves to speak up about their experiences of trauma in the criminal justice system. "At the end of the day, the allencompassing power is CSC... You can have all the support in the world, but like, I was never unrealistic" (C03). The systemic injustices within the criminal justice system amplify the psychological barriers women experience and decrease their drive for prosocial reintegration.

An Unrealistic Release Plan and Limited Resources

"Now I'm out, and I'm trying to navigate how to be a productive member of society, but I had no direction with that. I had no "how to", this is what to do. And they say they give you a plan, but it's not realistic. It's not realistic to all of a person's emotions and feelings" (E05).

Balfour et al. (2018) found that within Canada, there is an inconsistent process of developing and implementing release plans, with many individuals reporting that they were released without any services or any release plans in place. In the present study, women shared that they were incredibly dissatisfied with the release plans that they received. They shared that the release plans were inconsistent, unavailable, and overall were not realistic to the obstacles that they faced, especially with the limited resources available. This theme was composed of codes such as focusing on "how" not "what", the need for realistic plans, and the solution.

Participants shared that they reentered the community after incarceration feeling unprepared and unsupported by the correctional system. They shared that their release plans detailed what goals had to be achieved (i.e. securing employment, housing, not using substances), but they were entirely unaware of how to achieve those goals.

"It says you need a job. You need to get a job that's on the plan, work. How's that going to happen?" (E05)

"I couldn't even figure out the fucking bus system after six months. How do I get there?"
(D04)

"Refrain from alcohol, all drugs. How you're gonna do that?" (D04)

Without a release plan that is realistic to the obstacles that women will be returning to, they are at a disadvantage in their ability to achieve their specific goals. Participants described the limited support they are provided about the reintegration process. A participant shared about a workshop she had during incarceration where she was provided a fake situation and had to find a solution.

"Cindy can't budget her food for three month"... Does she steal food from the grocery store? Or does she try to find a food bank? Those really simple solutions where I'm like, man, I need bus fare for the food bank, I need a backpack for all the heavy food or a box,

I don't know where that is. Like, there's all these other things that were going through my head where I'm like gotta make sure I can get to the food bank before curfew and then if there's a payphone I can call in for my check-in. There's all these stressful things" (C03).

Some scholars and advocates argue that reentry begins during incarceration, and therefore support while incarcerated affects them upon release (Sheppard, 2022). Participants shared that the resources that are available are strictly based on how to not reoffend upon release, and other challenges that occur (i.e. suicidal ideation, substance cravings, mental health) that can contribute to reoffending are not discussed enough.

"In prison, you can't acknowledge self-harm. You can't acknowledge suicidal thoughts, you can't acknowledge eating disorders, you can't acknowledge drug use or impulse The whole impulsive behaviour part you can't even acknowledge in there because it doesn't happen according to them. Isn't that backwards? ...how do you deal with the triggers in the real world when they "don't" exist in the institution?" (C03). Another participant shared,

"They get arrested and thrown in jail, and they haven't even dealt with any of the things that happened to them. But here they are now they're just expected to move on. There's not enough counselling available, there's not enough mental health support. Mental health services are so lacking...there's just not enough support like the mental health thing is the hugest thing" (B02)

Women shared that they experienced substantial challenges upon release with tasks such as using a cellphone, buying transit passes, using the bus, and searching online for a job that staff assumed that they knew how to do, and therefore they did not receive the support for. When speaking about what they envision to be a solution for prosocial reintegration, participants

discussed the need for resources and support to be individualized and immediate upon release. "It has to be more personalized and more realistic" (E05). A participant shared about how women with sexual offence convictions need an "extra step reintegrator" as they have had limited access to technology and now need to access the internet for foundational necessities such as employment, housing, or prosocial connections. Another woman shared about the challenges of release plans not being individualized by saying,

"Like you have the person that has never been in trouble with the law before, has just done six months of a two-year bit -myself, coming out into the community, but then you have someone else that this is their fifth time being in, and you're sure they're coming back. What is that person not getting? It's not the same thing that the person over here needs. They always try to make it like they have the release plan, while it should be released plans. Because they should be different. You're going to be looking at different things. It has to be more individual" (E05).

Sexualization and Male Relationships

"He's gonna make you do whatever the fuck it takes to get money. I have been pimped out more times than I can count" (D03)

Within our patriarchal society, women have been socialized to adhere to sexist and objectifying environments. Feminist theorists argue that the sexualization of women is a tool used by patriarchal societies to maintain control over women, reducing their power and autonomy by focusing on sexual attributes. Consistent with General Strain Theory and Labelling Theory, women shared how the societal emphasis on physical appearance, male relationships, and sex impacted their engagement in criminal behaviour. This theme was composed of codes such as navigating relationships impacting crime and the sexualization of women.

Participants shared about their experiences of gender-based violence which included sexual assault, robbery, and physical abuse. "When a lot of things happen, you have a lot to heal" (E05). One woman spoke about how, immediately after being released from incarceration, women are frequently solicited for sex by the taxi drivers who pick them up from prison.

Specifically, she shared about one occasion where, after being solicited for sex, the taxi driver took the woman to buy drugs, sexually assaulted her, watched her overdose and left her. Previous research has found that 68% of women have experienced sexual assault, and 86% have experienced physical abuse, demonstrating the need for a trauma-informed approach to reintegration after incarceration (Zinger, 2014). A participant described her experience of being sexualized upon release by saying, "You got your boyfriend who's continuously hustling you and telling you, hey, why don't we go make money together? Nah. The money together is he's gonna put you out on the street" (D04).

"Women are vulnerable when they're out, and they have that guy beeping in their ear.

It's not fun. Those guys will force you to do whatever it takes for them to get drugs. They will ream you down so hard just to get drugs, and they will put you in jail" (D04).

It has been well established within the literature that compared to men, women are at an increased likelihood to be drawn to crime and deviance due to their relationships (boyfriends, husbands, pimps, fathers; Leverentz, 2006; Sheppard, 2022).

"I feel like I don't need to be in jail no more. I don't want to be. I need to stay away from the people, the places, the things that used to make me go downhill. And most of the time, that was a man" (D04).

Women with criminal justice involvement are more likely to have a relationship with an antisocial partner compared to men with criminal justice involvement (Leverentz, 2006). A study

by Leverentz (2006) found that due to the stigma related to criminally involved females, women have fewer choices of partners than men do when returning to the community. "Going into a relationship is very difficult because people see you as a very bad person" (F06). Women spoke about how, for them and for many women they know, relationships with men substantially impacted their substance use and, in turn, their criminal involvement.

"The relationship I was in was very toxic. He introduced me to coke" (E05)

"Last year, something bad had happened, and I got into a relationship with a guy who was feeding it to me" (D04)

"I was in really risky situations, or, you know, dating dealers, because of my substance use issues. Being taken advantage of that way" (B02)

The importance of having trauma-informed and gender-based services available for women upon reentry from incarceration, was elucidated by a participant who shared,

"Being sexualized has a huge impact, especially in the community where people are preying on women, taking advantage of women no matter how strong you are. You are resilient. That doesn't really matter because, it really impacts people when you're vulnerable" (D04)

Overarching Theme 4: Ways Forward

Needs for Desistence

"Stay away from drugs, go to school, get an education, do whatever it takes. Do whatever to keep yourself occupied as much as you can to stay out of jail" (D04)

Women spoke about the factors that helped them during their re-entry into the community into incarceration. They expressed the importance of being involved with meaningful activities and prosocial connections. This theme was composed of codes such as family, personal traits, and finding a sense of purpose.

Sheppard (2022) found that women who are incarcerated strive to feel productive and contribute to society upon their release, coinciding with the findings in the present study. Women described activities such as walking, watching television, sports, school, and working as foundational to the desistence process. "Going back to school and having something that gave me purpose" (C03). As another woman explained,

"I think just having that little job, just giving people purpose. Having that purpose can be life changing. And then also, like having that income, being able to be self-sufficient is an inch too" (B02).

When identifying personal traits that helped them during reintegration, participants spoke about helping others, having the desire to learn, and having a family support system. Rodermond et al. (2016) found that women with criminal justice involvement are more likely than males to be positively impacted by family support. One participant spoke about how having her son in her life was her motivator for desistence, "For me, because my son was with me at that time, I couldn't. I can't. I had to stop doing everything" (D04).

Advice For Women by Women

Throughout the interviews, the women spoke about lessons they have learnt, what they wish they knew, and what they would say to those currently re-entering after incarceration. This theme was composed of codes such as you are not your past: look at the bigger picture, be kind to yourself, and knowledge is power.

Participants discussed the importance of others learning from the lessons and challenges that they experienced. Peers who have shared experiences with those newly released from incarceration can offer empathy and validation in addition to practical strategies, resources, and advice in navigating challenges (Matthews, 2021). Palis et al. (2024) conducted a qualitative

study on peer work and found that receiving advice and learning about shared experiences can be beneficial to the vulnerable state individuals may be in during re-entry. For the person sharing advice, this can act as a motivator for personal growth and can provide a sense of purpose for the challenges they overcame surrounding their incarceration (Palis et al., 2024). Matthews (2021) found that advice from those who have been incarcerated to others in a similar situation is perceived as more believable, trustworthy, and helpful for both individuals' healing journeys.

The path toward desistence may not consistently be straightforward for individuals as they navigate challenges and heal from their past. In the present study, women shared the need to focus on the future they envision and "People's past doesn't define them" (B02), with additional examples listed below.

"No one is gonna believe in you, except you. So, believe in yourself, and believe your future is bright" (A01)

"Whatever, however, whatever you have to do to not use, that's what you focus on" (E05) "I had to start fresh, and it doesn't hurt to start fresh. It hurts when you are going right back to the same thing. And then you are just going right back inside right after that.

What would you rather? Would you rather stay outside, enjoy your life, enjoy the community, start helping the community or go right back to the same person you were and go back to jail? There's no point in going back to jail. Not at all" (D04).

Maruna (2001) developed a theory of desistance focusing on the importance of a gradual shift in self-narrative to achieve desistance from crime. With the path to healing being a continuously evolving journey, when sharing the advice that they had for women leaving incarceration, participants discussed the need to "Not to be too hard on themselves. Don't be too self-critical" (B02) with additional examples listed below.

"It's the relationship with myself that was the most important" (E05)
"You are resilient" (B02)

"If I had to just say one thing that they should do, it would be to be kind to themselves, and then what does that look like for you? Because I was never very kind to myself. A lot of negative thoughts and a lot of guilt and shame and hurt, and rejection and all that kind of stuff. All those negative things. So, if I was just kind, just be kind to yourself because we're, like, number one, right? So, it has to start with how am I going to learn? Never mind love, how am I gonna like myself again?" (E05).

McLuhan et al. (2023) found that there is an immense need for coordination and communication between resource supports and correctional facilities to mitigate the challenges after incarceration. Although there is a scarcity of resources available after incarceration, awareness and access to the resources that are available, such as peer support groups, housing services, prosocial friendships, and employment assistance can promote desistence from crime. Women in the current study shared about the power of having knowledge and access to resources with examples listed below.

"Have those resources at hand the second you get out, you will not go back. Utilize those resources" (D04)

"Reach out to anybody that you feel is a safe person to speak to if you want to stay away from prison. Reach out to them. They are your best support. You have those people behind you, you won't go back. That's what I did. I never went back" (D04)

Resilience and the future

"I thank the woman that I was who started drinking how many years ago because she got me through to here. I always say she kept me alive, so I could survive, so that I could thrive" (E05)

Despite evidence that resilience is a positive way for individuals to adapt to obstacles, it is understudied within criminal justice research, specifically with women. While not neglecting the fact that women experience challenges during reintegration, resilience is a concept that refers to a continuous process where an individual is able to positively adapt to adversities while maintaining mental strength (Shankar et al., 2019). The women in the current study shared how they have overcome challenges and demonstrated resilience and hope for their future. This theme was composed of codes such as hope, looking toward the future, and resilience.

Women explained that the reason they are on a path to desistence is primarily due to their hope for their future. They described a sense of hope stemming from being able to see their grandchildren grow up, their careers flourish, start healthy marriages, and live their lives outside of the justice system. "I just can't imagine ever jeopardizing everything I've built in my life" (B02). A participant shared about how she was recently offered substances, and the thought of what her future holds after her most recent charges get dropped was a motivator to say no.

"Any other time, I'd be like, let's go. Let's go. Let's go. No, this time, I have court in a week. I'm not doing this because I'll end up in jail, and I'm gonna be breached, and then I'm gonna go back to prison. I don't want that because the charges I just had that's gonna be dropped tomorrow. I could be looking at five years. Do I really want to be looking at five years? No. Not at all...So I'll say goodbye to it. I just I can't, I can't... I have to say no. No matter what" (D04).

Similar to how individuals build muscles, fostering resilience takes time and deliberation (American Psychological Association, 2017). "I never thought I would bounce back. Never imagined. Never imagined after 25 years of being caught in that revolving door" (B02). As stated by Ungar (2013), resilience is contextualized with resilience needing to be considered in

the context of the specific adversity, indicating that healing can be a continuous journey considering the trauma that one may have experienced.

"Everybody's always looking for that authentic self, and that's what they want to present to the world, to the community. That I'm healed, and I'm whole. Well, that piece of me that was in the trap house, that piece of me that was in [prison name removed], they are pieces of me. So, I don't try to forget about them and not have them a part of me. I keep them with me now because they're a good reminder of where I don't want to be. That's how you become whole" (E05).

When reflecting on the healing process, a participant shared,

"It triggers me, it triggers my emotions, but it's a good thing. I think triggers are really good things, people think they're bad, but I think they're good. Because they remind you where you've been and that feeling, and I don't ever want to go back to that. So, I'm glad that I have that emotion" (E05).

A participant illustrated the journey of overcoming challenges and the process of resilience by saying,

"I'm proud of what I do. I'm proud of who I am. I'm proud of where, like, I'm just proud of myself. And a lot of stuff in my past I have regrets, of course, but I've got past the shame and the guilt and all that stuff I carried and, now I'm just really proud that I have overcome all that and that I was able to move forward with my life in a good way" (B02).

Limitations

There are notable limitations within the present study. The findings in the current study presented 12 themes that were found within the multifaceted and complex experiences that the women shared about their reintegration. The participants shared broadly about their experiences,

and even though the author found numerous themes within the dataset, variations of the number of themes may have been found by other researchers. That said, Braun and Clarke (2022) explained that many themes are often needed when presenting an overview of key patterns in a dataset compared to an in-depth exploration of one or two facets of the data where fewer themes would be appropriate. To mitigate this potential limitation, reflexivity was used throughout the data analysis, where the author considered whether the themes are rich and complex enough to be considered a theme or if they report only one dimension and alternatively should be considered a code.

An additional limitation is that the majority of the women were engaged in the desistance process of reintegration. Despite the interviews being available for women who are at any point in their reintegration process, whether in an active criminal lifestyle or not, the majority of women spoke about desistence. Therefore, the results cannot be transferred to assess the reintegration needs of all women considering the unique circumstances and varying levels of desistence present among women. While the women reflected on their past experiences of reentry and the challenges that they have seen other women face, it is not necessarily reflective of other women's current lifestyle.

Chapter 4: General Discussion

Although women are a small percentage of the incarcerated population, compared to males, their incarceration rate has drastically increased (de Vogel & Nicholls, 2016; Herring, 2020). Upon prison release, women face unique and multifaceted external barriers to prosocial reintegration (Holtfreter & Cupp, 2007). Without recognizing how the unique barriers women experience can impact reintegration, we neglect a vital component of successfully supporting the reintegration of females convicted of a criminal offence and ending the cycle of re-incarceration.

Implications

An important finding throughout the research studies was the need for an improved release plan that recognizes the realities of re-entry after incarceration for women. As women face unique and multifaceted external barriers to a successful reintegration process (Holtfreter & Cupp, 2007), specific, gender-salient discharge planning must be in place that incorporates appropriate resources and risk management tools (Huebner et al., 2009). The findings in the present study extend previous research, which found that 31% of females re-entering the community from 2018 to 2021 reported that they were not prepared for release when they were first eligible for parole (Office of the Auditor General of Canada, 2022). As demonstrated in study one, post-incarceration reintegration is associated with social support, self-esteem, selfstigma, loneliness, trauma, and feeling a sense of community. With the significant correlation between psychological barriers and prosocial reintegration, a release plan that addresses the obstacles that women may experience and that helps mitigate emotional distress may be more likely to yield reduced recidivism and improved community integration. The findings in study one were further examined in study two within the themes "An Unrealistic Release Plan and Limited Resources", "Returning to a Survival Based Lifestyle", and "Psychological Barriers". Within these themes, participants explained how they entered the community with a list of goals they had to achieve, but they had no idea how or where to start. Therefore, while incarcerated, there is a significant need for access to clinical programs and release planning that actively involves the individual woman overseeing and contributing to her release plan. Without a release plan informed by the individual and developed with the involvement of peer support workers and other supports, the likelihood of recidivism presumably increases.

Expanding on the need for a realistic release plan, an additional takeaway from these studies is the need for additional resources upon release. With the lack of resources available, many Canadian women experience the "revolving door syndrome" characterized by being discharged from prison, reimprisoned, and rereleased, with the cycle continuously repeating throughout their lifetime (Blair-Lawton et al., 2020). The findings of this study illustrate the need for resources that support women in navigating gender disparities that contribute to the experience of psychological barriers during re-entry after incarceration. With every incarcerated female convicted of a criminal offence costing an average of \$212,005 (at least \$90,000/ per year more than males), addressing the increase in the incarceration of females can positively impact communities (Public Safety Canada, 2020). As a comparison, the salary of a social services worker is \$40,000 per year (Elizabeth Fry Northern Alberta, n.d.). Reallocating funds could better support women reintegrating into the community upon release and prevent future criminal behaviour (Elizabeth Fry Northern Alberta, n.d.). Without women's basic needs met with support from correctional facilities in this transition, it is challenging for women to have their selffulfillment and psychological needs met (Hopper, 2020). Without all these needs met to support their success, the cycle of recidivism may continue with criminal activities to secure survivalbased necessities (Wright et al., 2012).

Further implications of this study extend to the broader societal impact of custodial sentences on women, particularly concerning their ties to their communities and the stigma associated with incarceration. As demonstrated by the findings in the present study, the reintegration process for women re-entering the community can be positively impacted by social connections. Participants in study two shared that they were continuously discriminated against due to their criminal justice involvement with perspectives from the public, such as "Once you're

a criminal, you're a criminal" (C03), as well as findings in study one that stigma is associated with reintegration. If individuals are unable to receive the necessary resources and release planning from correctional institutions, an increase in community connection and belonging is needed to decrease recidivism.

Further disconnecting individuals from prosocial and positive community engagement, experiences within custodial settings, such as a lack of access to correctional programming, may negatively and substantially impact an individual's likelihood of returning to prior criminal activity. The Office of the Auditor General of Canada (2022) conducted an audit on the Correctional Services of Canada (CSC), which found that the CSC failed to identify and eliminate systemic barriers that continuously disadvantage specific groups of individuals, such as women, Indigenous peoples, and visible minorities. A reasoning behind the audit was that CSC is mandated to prepare individuals for safe re-entry into the community, providing interventions and services during incarceration that are responsive to the unique needs of particular groups such as women (Office of the Auditor General of Canada, 2022). Despite the responsibility of custodial centers being to "rehabilitate" individuals rather than punish them, the findings in the present study demonstrate the need for additional services during and after incarceration that address women's needs. Compared to provincial institutions, federal institutions (2+ year sentences) provide more opportunities for individuals to access interventions due to the increased sentence length. However, only 29% of women released in 2021 completed programming before their first parole eligibility date, a number that continues to decline steadily (e.g. 50% completed programming in 2019; Office of the Auditor General of Canada, 2022). Complementing the findings in the present study, previous research suggests that programming for women within custody needs to be founded on a holistic approach that recognizes women's social realities and

is part of a continuum of care that supports women in their reintegration into society (Office of the Auditor General of Canada, 2022).

Future Research Directions

Women represent less than 10% of people convicted of a criminal offence, and therefore limited research has been conducted in recognition of their needs (Herring, 2020; Latimer & Lawrence, 2006; Nicholls et al., 2009). Additional research is needed to better understand women's experience of re-entry after incarceration in order to better address their needs for desistence. Future studies should aim to provide a more in-depth investigation of specific psychological barriers. This could be done by interviewing women specifically about one type of psychological barrier they experienced upon release and by conducting a more expansive sampling that better represents varying levels of desistence. Furthermore, the psychological barriers during re-entry could be studied with a longitudinal design to examine how outcomes and specific barriers evolve over time.

Given the common wariness that individuals who are actively involved in the criminal justice system may have about participating in research, those individuals likely did not partake in the study. For accessibility and inclusion purposes, the current study provided the option for inperson participation in specific locations. However, the availability of in-person participation was limited and future research should provide more inclusive and accessible opportunities. Due to time constraints, participatory action research was not available/feasible for this present study however, future research should consider working with community members (i.e. peer workers, and service providers) for a more accessible and appropriate research process.

Overall, the findings in this thesis consistently demonstrated that the female participants experienced widespread systemic gaps in the Canadian correctional system and that there is a

need for increased resources to support women after incarceration. The women who have directly experienced these systemic failings are the experts of their own experiences, and therefore, listening to those with lived experiences is critical to creating future change. With recidivism rates between 33% to 80% and unique barriers for women establishing a pro-social lifestyle upon prison release, it is necessary to understand this growing high-needs population better (Adams et al., 2008).

References

- Ackerman, A. R., & Sacks, M. (2012). Can general strain theory be used to explain recidivism among registered sex offenders? *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 40(3), 187–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2011.11.002
- Adams, S., Leukefeld, C.G., & Peden, A. R. (2008). Substance abuse treatment for women Offenders: A research review, *Journal of Addictions Nursing*, 19(2), 61-75.

 10.1080/10884600802111648
- Afifi, T.O., MacMillan, H.L., Boyle, M., Taillieu, T., Cheung, K., & Sareen, J. (2014). Child abuse and mental disorders in Canada. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 186, 324–332. 10.1503/cmaj.131792.
- Agnew, R. (1992) Foundation for a general strain theory of crime and delinquency. *Criminology*, 30(1), 47–88. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-9125.1992.tb01093.x
- Alfred, M., & Chlup, D. (2009). Beyond illiteracy and poverty: Theorizing the rise in black women's incarceration. *The Western Journal of Black Studies*, *33*(4), 240-249. http://scholars.wlu.ca/brantford_sjce/13
- Allan, C., Winters, G., Grydehøj, R., Jeglic, E., & Calkins, C. (2023). Perspectives of reentry and desistance: A comparison of individuals convicted of general and sexual offenses.

 *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation,62(1), 59-80. 10.1080/10509674.2022.2158983.
- Arditti, J.A (2003). Locked doors and glass walls: Family visiting at a local jail. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*. 8(2), 115–138. http://doi.org/10.1080/15325020305864
- Arnsperger, C. (2004). Poverty and human rights: The issue of systemic economic discrimination and some concrete proposals for reform. *International Social Science Journal*, *56*(180), 289–299. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0020-8701.2004.00491.x

- Balfour, G., Hannah-Moffat, K., & Turnbull, S. (2018). Planning for precarity? Experiencing the carceral continuum of imprisonment and reentry. *Studies in Law, Politics and Society* 77, 31-48. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1059-433720180000077002
- Barrett, M.R., Allenby, K., & Taylor, K. (2010). Twenty years later: Revisiting the task force on federally sentenced women. Correctional Service Canada. https://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/research/005008-0222-01-eng.shtml
- Baumeister, R. F., Campbell, J. D., Krueger, J. I., & Vohs, K. D. (2003). Does high self-esteem cause better performance, interpersonal success, happiness, or healthier lifestyles?

 *Psychological Science in the Public Interest: A Journal of the American Psychological Society, 4(1), 1–44. https://doi.org/10.1111/1529-1006.01431
- BC Healthy Communities. (2018). *Social connectedness*. https://planh.ca/take- action/healthy-society/inclusive-communities/page/social-connectedness
- Becker, H. S. (1963). Outsiders: Studies in the sociology of deviance. New York: Free Press.
- Benfer, N., Howell, M. K., Lucksted, A., Romero, E.G., & Drapalski, A. L. (2023). Self-stigma and PTSD: Conceptualization and implications for research and treatment. *Psychiatric Services*, 74(10), 1081–1083. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.20220397
- Belisle, L., Keen, J. P., Trejbalova, T., Kelly, B., & Salisbury, E. J. (2022). *Advances in female risk assessment*. In S. L. Brown & L. Gelsthorpe (Eds.), The Wiley handbook on what works with girls and women in conflict with the law: A critical review of theory, practice, and policy (pp. 89–101). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119874898.ch7
- Beutel, M.E., Klein, E.M., Brähler, E. *et al.* Loneliness in the general population: prevalence, determinants and relations to mental health. *BMC Psychiatry* **17**, 97 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-017-1262-x

- Blair-Lawton, D., Mordoch, E., & Chernomas, W. (2020). Putting on the same shoes: Lived experiences of women who are re-incarcerated. *Journal of Forensic Nursing*. *16*(2), 99-107. https://doi.org/10.1097/JFN.0000000000000276.
- Blomley, N. (2009). Homelessness, rights, and the delusions of property. *Urban Geography*, *30*(6), 577–590. https://doi.org/10.2747/0272-3638.30.6.577
- Bloom, B., Owen, B., & Covington, S. (2003). *Gender-responsive strategies: Research practice*and guiding principles for women offenders. National Institute of Corrections.

 https://s3.amazonaws.com/static.nicic.gov/Library/018017.pdf
- Bonta, J. & Andrews, D.A. (2007). *Risk Need Responsivity Model for offender assessment and rehabilitation*. Public Safety. https://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/cnt/rsrcs/pblctns/rsk-nd-rspnsvty/index-en.aspx
- Bradley-Engen, M. (2011) Stigma and the deviant identity. In Bryant, C. D (Eds). *The routledge handbook of deviant behavior*. (pp. 190-195). Routledge.
- Brant, J. (2017). Missing and murdered Indigenous women and girls in Canada. *Canadian Encyclopedia*. https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/missing-and-murdered-indigenous-women-and-girls-in-canada.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research in psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp0630a
- Braun V., & Clarke V. (2022). *Thematic analysis: A practical guide*. (A. Maher, Ed.). SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Brown, S., Peterson-Badali, M., Cesaroni, C., Wagstaff, M., Fredericks, K., Goodwin, J., & Dieten, M. (2020). *Incorporating gender-based analysis into crime prevention*. Public Safety. https://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/cnt/rsrcs/pblctns/2020-s002/index-en.aspx

- Brown, S. (2017). A review of the women offender risk/need research: In search of gender-neutral, women-salient and women-specific risk factors. Correctional Services Canada. https://carleton.ca/gendercrimelab/wp-content/uploads/R-386_Report_Eng.pdf
- Buchanan, M., Murphy, K., Martin, M. S., Korchinski, M., Buxton, J., Granger-Brown, A., Hanson, D., Hislop, G., Macaulay, A. C., & Martin, R. E. (2011). Understanding incarcerated women's perspectives on substance use: Catalysts, reasons for use, consequences, and desire for change. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 50(2), 81-100.
- Butler, A., Nicholls, T. L., Samji, H., Fabian, S., & Lavergne, M. R. (2024). Mental health needs, substance use, and reincarceration: Population-level findings from a released prison cohort. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *51*(7), 1054-1071. https://doiorg.library.smu.ca/10.1177/00938548241238327
- Canadian Psychological Association (2007). *Guidelines for ethical psychological practice with women*. Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.

 https://cpa.ca/cpasite/UserFiles/Documents/publications/guidelines%20for%20psychological%20practice%20women.pdf
- Canadian Association of Occupational Therapists, Association of Canadian Occupational

 Therapy Regulatory Organizations, & Association of Canadian Occupational Therapy

 University Programs. (2024). Joint position statement Toward equity and justice:

 Enacting an intersectional approach to social accountability in occupational therapy.

 Canadian Association of Occupational Therapists.

 https://caot.ca/document/8179/Toward%20Equity%20and%20Justice_JPS_EN_V3.pdf

- Canadian Women's Foundation. (2014) "No more": Ending sex-trafficking in Canada: Report of the national task force on sex trafficking of women and girls in Canada. https://www-deslibris-ca.ezproxy.viu.ca/ID/244908
- Comack, E. (2018). *Coming back to jail: Women, trauma and criminalization*. Fernwood Publishing.
- Corrigan, P. W., Watson, A. C., & Barr, L. (2006). The self-stigma of mental illness: Implications for self-esteem and self-efficacy. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*. 25(8), 875–884.
- Department of Justice (2019). Spotlight on Gladue: Challenges, experiences, and possibilities in Canada's criminal justice system. Government of Canada.

 https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/rp-pr/jr/gladue/p2.html
- Department of Justice (2020). *Recidivism in the criminal justice system*. Government of Canada. https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/rp-pr/jr/jf-pf/2020/aug01.html# edn7
- Department of Justice. (2020) *State of the criminal justice system: Focus on women*. Government of Canada. https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/cj-jp/state-etat/2021rpt-rap2021/pdf/SOCJS_2020_en.pdf
- de Vogel, V., & Nicholls, T. L. (2016). Gender matters: An introduction to the special issues on women and girls, *International Journal of Forensic Mental Health*, *15*(1), 1-25, 10.1080/14999013.2016.1141439
- Dines, G. (2012). Neoliberalism and the defanging of feminism. SPCOrganization.
- Elizabeth Fry Northern Alberta (n.d). *Cost of incarceration*. Elizabeth Fry Northern Alberta. https://www.efrynorthernalberta.com/cost-of-incarceration

- Evans, D. N., Pelletier, E., & Szkola, J. (2018). Education in prison and the self-stigma: Empowerment continuum. *Crime & Delinquency*, 64(2), 255-280
- Fader, J., & Dum, C. (2013). Doing time, filling time: Bureaucratic ritualism as a systemic barrier to youth reentry. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *35*(5), 899-907.
- Fabian, R. (2017). Why mental health is a feminist issue. TalkSpace. https://www.talkspace.com/blog/mental-health-feminist-issue/
- Fleming, E., Upton, A., Wright, F. L., Wurzburg, S., & Ney, B. (2021). *Adopting a gender-responsive approach for women in the justice system: A resource guide*. New York: The Council of State Governments Justice Center. https://csgjusticecenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/Adopting-Gender-Responsive-Approach-for-Women-in-Justice-System.pdf
- Froggio, G. (2007). Strain and juvenile delinquency: A critical review of Agnew's General Strain Theory. *Journal of Loss & Trauma*, 12(4), 383–418.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15325020701249363
- Folk, J.B., Mashek, D., Tangney, J., Stuewig, J., & Moore, K.E. (2016). Connectedness to the criminal community and the community at large predicts 1-year post-release outcomes among felony offenders. *European Journal Social Psychology*. 46(3), 341-355.
- Fung, H. W., Černis, E., & Shum, M. H. Y. (2023). Self-stigma predicts post-traumatic and depressive symptoms in traumatized individuals seeking interventions for dissociative symptoms: A preliminary investigation. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 14(2). https://doi.org/10.1080/20008066.2023.2251778

- Gadd, J. H, Radcliffe, P., Stephens-Lewis, D., Johnson, A., & Gilchrist, G. (2019). The dynamics of domestic abuse and drug and alcohol dependency, *The British Journal of Criminology*, *59*(5), 1035–1053. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjc/azz011
- Gan, W. Q., Kinner, S. A., Nicholls, T. L., Xavier, C. G., Urbanoski, K., Greiner, L., Buxton, J.
 A., Martin, R. E., McLeod, K. E., Samji, H., Nolan, S., Meilleur, L., Desai, R., Sabeti, S.,
 & Slaunwhite, A. K. (2021). Risk of overdose-related death for people with a history of incarceration. *Addiction*, 116(6), 1460–1471. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.15293
- Geraghty, K.A., & Woodhams, J. (2015). The predictive validity of risk assessment tools for female offenders: A systematic review. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 21, 25-38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2015.01.002.
- Gillard, S., Edwards, C., Gibson, S., Holley, J., & Owen, K. (2014). New ways of working in mental health services: A qualitative, comparative case study assessing and informing the emergence of new peer worker roles in mental health services in England. *NIHR Journals Library*, 2(18). 10.3310/hsdr02190
 - Gobeil, R., Blanchette, K., & Stewart, L. (2016). A meta-analytic review of correctional interventions for women offenders: Gender-neutral versus gender-informed approaches.

 Criminal Justice and Behavior, 43(3), 301-322.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854815621100
 - Goldstein, P. J. (1985). The drugs/violence nexus: A tripartite conceptual framework. *Journal of Drug Issues*, 15(4), 493-506. https://doi.org/10.1177/002204268501500406
 - Gray, M. J., Litz, B. T., Hsu, J. L., & Lombardo, T. W. (2004). Psychometric properties of the life events checklist. *Assessment*, 11(4), 330–341.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191104269954

- Griffin, M., Martino, R. J., LoSchiavo, C., Comer-Carruthers, C., Krause, K. D., Stults, C. B., & Halkitis, P. N. (2022). Ensuring survey research data integrity in the era of internet bots. *Quality & quantity*, 56(4), 2841–2852. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-021-01252-1
- Griffiths, C., Dandurand, Y., & Murdoch, D. (2007). The social reintegration of offenders and crime prevention. National Crime Prevention Centre: Public Safety Canada.

 https://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/cnt/rsrcs/pblctns/scl-rntgrtn/scl-rntgrtn-eng.pdf
- Grossman, K. (2018). What will it take? Examining the use of preliminary hearing testimony where victims are unavailable due to mental illness stemming from domestic violence and sexual assault. *Northern Illinois University Law Review*, 39(1), 139-169.

 https://huskiecommons.lib.niu.edu/niulr/vol39/iss1/6/
- Gupta, M., Madabushi, J. S., & Gupta, N. (2023). Critical overview of patriarchy, its interferences with psychological development, and risks for mental health. *Cureus*, *15*(6), e40216. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.40216
- Hannah-Moffat, K., & Innocente. N. (2013). "To thrive or simply survive": Parole and the post-release needs of canadian women existing prison. In B. Carlton & M. Segrave (Eds.), Women Exiting Prison: Critical Essays on Gender, Post-release Support and Survival, (pp. 77-97). Routledge.
- Harvey, E. (2017). The impact of Black Lives Matter on Black college students [Master's thesis, George Mason University]. Mason Archival Repository Service. https://doi.org/10.13021/G8XH52
- Hayes, D., & Chodkiewicz, A. (2006). School–community links: Supporting learning in the middle years, *Research Papers in Education*, 21(1), 3-18, 10.1080/02671520500445409

- Hawkley, L. C., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2010). Loneliness matters: A theoretical and empirical review of consequences and mechanisms. *Annual Behavioural Medicine*. 40(2), 218-27. 10.1007/s12160-010-9210-8. PMID: 20652462; PMCID: PMC3874845.
- Herring, T. (2020). Since you asked: What role does drug enforcement play in the rising of incarceration of women? *Prison Policy Initiative*.
 https://www.prisonpolicy.org/blog/2020/11/10/women-drug-enforcement/
- Holtfreter, K., & Cupp, R. (2007). The empirical status of the LSI-R for women. *Journal of Contemporary Justice*. 23(4), 363-382. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043986207309436
- Holzemer, W.L., Human, S., Arudo, J., Rosa, M.E., Hamilton, M.J., Corles, I., Robinson, L.,
 Nicholas, P.K., Wantland, D.J., Moezzi, S., Willard, S., Kirksey, K., Portillo, C., Sefcik,
 E., Rivero-Méndez, M., & Maryland, M. (2009). Exploring HIV stigma and quality of
 life for persons living with HIV infection. *Journal of the Association of AIDS Care*.
 20(3), 161–168.
- Hopper, E. (2020). Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs explained. *ThoughtCo*. https://www.thoughtco.com/maslows-hierarchy-of-needs-4582571
- Howell, T. (2008). The point of no return: Aboriginal offenders' journey towards a crime free life. [Doctoral Dissertation, University of British Columbia]. UBC Library Open Collections.
- Huang, L., Thai, J., Zhong, Y., Peng, H., Koran, J., & Zhao, X. (2019). The positive association between empathy and self-esteem in Chinese medical students: A multi-institutional study. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01921
- Huebner, C. D., & Cobbina, J. (2009). Women coming home: Long-term patterns of recidivism. *Justice Quarterly*, 27(2), 225-254, 10.1080/07418820902870486

- John Howard Society of Ontario., O'Grady, W., & Lafleur, R. (2016). *Reintegration in Ontario:*practices, priorities, and effective models. The Association for Effective Reintegration in Ontario. https://johnhoward.on.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Reintegration-in-Ontario-Final.pdf
- Johnson, H. (2017). Why doesn't she just report it? Apprehensions and contradictions for women who report sexual violence to the police. *Canadian Journal of Women and the Law*. 29(1), 36-59. https://doi.org/10.3138/cjwl.29.1.36
- Jozan, A. R. (2020). Loneliness, prosocial relationships, and recidivism in long-term incarcerated juveniles. [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies. https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/9158
- Kao, J. C., Chuong, A., Reddy, M. K., Gobin, R. L., Zlotnick, C., & Johnson, J. E. (2014).
 Associations between past trauma, current social support, and loneliness in incarcerated populations. *Health & Justice*, 2 (7). https://doi.org/10.1186/2194-7899-2-7
- Kelly, C., Kasperavicius, D., Duncan, D., Etherington, C., Giangregorio, L., Presseau, J., Sibley, K. M., & Straus, S. (2021). 'Doing' or 'using' intersectionality? Opportunities and challenges in incorporating intersectionality into knowledge translation theory and practice. *International journal for equity in health*, 20(1), 187. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-021-01509-z
- Khantzian, E. (2017). The theory of self-medication and addiction. *Psychiatric Times*. *34*(2), https://www.psychiatrictimes.com/view/theory-self-medication-and-addiction
- Khoury, L., Tang, Y.L., Bradley, B., Cubells, J. F., & Ressler, K. J. (2010). Substance use, childhood traumatic experience, and Posttraumatic Stress Disorder in an urban civilian population. *Depression Anxiety*. 27(12),1077-86. 10.1002/da.20751.

- Kidd, S. A., & Davidson, L. (2007). "You have to adapt because you have no other choice": The stories of strength and resilience of 208 homeless youth in New York City and Tonto.
 Journal of Community Psychology, 35(2), 219-238. 10.1002/jcop.2014
- King-Nyberg, B., Thomson, E.F., Morris-Reade, J., Borgen, R., & Taylor, C. (2023). The bot toolbox: An accidental case study on how to eliminate bots from your online survey.

 **Journal of Social Thought, 7(1), 1-11.
- KIP Canada. (2020). Welcome to KIP Canada. KIP Canada. https://www.kipcanada.org
- Komarovskaya, I. A., Loper, A. B., Warren, J., & Jackson, S. (2011). Exploring gender differences in trauma exposure and the emergence of symptoms of PTSD among incarcerated men and women. *Journal of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology*, 22(3), 395-410. https://doi.org/10.1080/14789949.2011.572989
- Kort-Butler, L. A. (2006). Boys act bad and girls get sad: How gender structures sex differences in adolescent well-being. [Doctoral dissertation, North Carolina State University]. NCSU Libraries.
- Kouyoumdjian F., Schuler A., Matheson F. I., & Hwang S. W. (2016). Health status of prisoners in Canada: Narrative review. *Canadian Family Physician Medecin de Famille Canadien*, 62(3), 215–222. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4984599/
- Kulesza M, Matsuda M, Ramirez JJ, Werntz AJ, Teachman BA, & Lindgren KP (2016). Towards greater understanding of addiction stigma: Intersectionality with race/ethnicity and gender. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 169, 85–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2016.10.020

- Lam, E. (2020). Pandemic sex workers' resilience: COVID-19 crisis met with rapid responses by sex worker communities. *International Social Work*, 63(6), 777-781. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020872820962202
- Latimer, J., & Lawrence, A. (2006). The Review Board systems in Canada: An overview of results from the Mentally Disordered Accused Data Collection Study. *Department of Justice Canada*. https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/rp-pr/csj-sjc/jsp-sjp/rr06_1/p1.html
- LeBel, T. P. (2008). Perceptions of and responses to stigma. Sociology Compass, 2(2), 409-432
- Leschied, A. (2011). The treatment of incarcerated mentally disordered women offenders: A synthesis of current research. Public Safety Canada.

 https://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/cnt/rsrcs/pblctns/2011-03-tmdw/index-en.aspx
- Leverentz, A. M. (2006). The love of a good man? Romantic relationships as a source of support or hindrance for female ex-offenders. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 43(4), 459- 488.
- Leverentz, A. M. (2014). The ex-prisoner's dilemma: How women negotiate competing narratives of reentry and desistance. Rutgers University Press. 10.36019/9780813562292.
- Link, B.G., Struening, E.L., Neese-Todd, S., Asmussen, S., & Phelan, J.C. (2001). Stigma as a barrier to recovery: The consequences of stigma for the self–esteem of people with mental illness. *Psychiatric Services*. 52(12), 1621-1626.

 https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.52.12.1621
- Lowe, G., Willis, G., & Gibson, K. (2017). You do what? A qualitative investigation into the motivation to volunteer with circles of support and accountability. *Sexual Abuse: A*

- Journal of Research and Treatment, 31(2), 237-260. 107906321772915. 10.1177/1079063217729157.
- MacDonald, S, F. (2014). *Lifetime substance use patterns of women offenders (RS 14-24)*.

 Correctional Service of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/correctional-service/corporate/library/research/snippet/14-24.html
- MacKenzie, C., & Amirault, J. (2021). From incarceration to reintegration: Using the human services model to manage Canadian prisoner mental health. *Journal of Correctional Health Care: The official journal of the National Commission on Correctional Health Care*, 27(1), 66–70. https://doi.org/10.1089/jchc.19.05.0046
- Maidment, M. R. (2006). *Doing time on the outside: Deconstructing the benevolent community*.

 University of Toronto Press.
- Mallicoat S. L. (2014). Women and crime: A text/reader. Sage Publications Inc.
- Maruna, S. (2001). *Making good: How ex-convicts reform and rebuild their lives*. American Psychological Association
- Mashek, D., Cannaday, L., & Tangney, J. (2007). Inclusion of community in self scale. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 35(2), 257-275. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.20146
- Maté, G. (2008). In the realm of hungry ghosts: Close encounters with addiction. Toronto: Knopf, Canada.
- Matheson, F., Doherty, S., & Grant, B. (2008). Women offender substance abuse programming and community reintegration. Public Safety.

 https://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/lbrr/archives/cn97159737-eng.pdf
- Matthews, E. (2021). Peer-focused prison reentry programs: Which peer characteristics matter most? *Incarceration*, 2(2). https://doi.org/10.1177/26326663211019958

- McLuhan, A., Hahmann, T., Mejia-Lancheros, C., Hamilton-Wright, S., Tacchini, G., &
 Matheson, F.I. (2023). Finding help and hope in a peer-led reentry service hub near a
 detention centre: A process evaluation. *PLoS One*, *18*(2). 10.1371/journal.pone.0281760.
 PMID: 36800339; PMCID: PMC9937468.
- McNab, M. (2020). Indigenous women's issues in Canada. The Canadian Encyclopedia.
- McWilliams, E. R., & Hunter, B. A. (2021). The impact of criminal record stigma on quality of life: A test of theoretical pathways. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 67(1-2), 89–102. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12454
- Merrill, E., & Frigon, S. (2015). Performative criminology and the "State of Play" for theatre with criminalized women. *Societies*, *5*, 295-313.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/soc5020295
- Miller, B., & Bowen, E. (2020). "I know where the rest of my life is going": Attitudinal and behavioral dimensions of resilience for homeless emerging adults. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 46(4), 553–570. https://doi.org/10.1080/01488376.2019.1607647
- Mingus, W., & Burchfield, K. B. (2012). From prison to integration: Applying modified labeling theory to sex offenders. *Criminal Justice Studies: A Critical Journal of Crime, Law & Society*, 25(1), 97–109. https://doi.org/10.1080/1478601X.2012.657906
- Misener, K, E., & Doherty, A. (2012). Connecting the community through sport club partnerships. *International Journal of Sport Policy and Politics*, *4*(2), 243-255, 10.1080/19406940.2012.674962
- Moore, K.E., Milam, K.C., Folk, J.B., & Tangney, J.P. (2018). Self-stigma among Criminal Offenders: Risk and Protective Factors. *Stigma Health*. *3*(3), 241-252. 10.1037/sah0000092.

- Moore, K. E., Stein, M. D., Kurth, M. E., Stevens, L., Hailemariam, M., Schonbrun, Y. C., & Johnson, J. E. (2020). Risk Factors for Self-stigma among incarcerated women with Alcohol Use Disorder. *Stigma and health*, *5*(2), 158–167. https://doi.org/10.1037/sah0000182
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2022). *The Limits of Recidivism: Measuring Success After Prison*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.

 https://doi.org/10.17226/26459.
- National Domestic Violence Hotline. (n.d.) Supporting someone who keeps returning to an abusive relationships. The Hotline. https://www.thehotline.org/resources/supporting-someone-who-keeps-returning-to-an-abusive-relationship/
- Namnyak, M., Tufton, N., Szekely, R., Toal, M., Worboys, S., & Sampson, E. L. (2008). Stockholm syndrome: Psychiatric diagnosis or urban myth? *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *117*(1), 4-11. 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2007.01112.x
- Nicholls, T., Brink, J., Greaves, C., Lussier, P., & Verdun-Jones, S. (2009). Forensic psychiatric inpatients and aggression: An exploration of incidence, prevalence, severity, and interventions by patient gender. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 32(1), 23-30.
- Nicholls, T., Crocker, A., Seto, M., Wilson, C., Charette. Y., & Côté, G. (2015). The national trajectory project of individuals found not criminally responsible on account of mental disorder. Part 5: How essential are gender-specific forensic psychiatric services?

 Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. 60(3), 135-45.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/070674371506000308

- Nunes, K., & Cortoni, F. (2007). Assessing treatment change in sexual offenders. Ottawa, Ontario: Correctional Service of Canada
- Nutbrown, C., Clough, P., Stammers, L., Emblin, N., & Alston-Smith, S. (2019). Family literacy in prisons: Fathers' engagement with their young children. *Research Papers in Education*, 34(2), 169–191. https://doi.org/10.1080/02671522.2017.1402085
- Office of the Correctional Investigator. (2016). *Federally sentenced women*. Government of Canada. https://www.oci-bec.gc.ca/cnt/priorities-priorites/women-femmes-eng.aspx \
- Office of the Auditor General of Canada. (2022). Systemic Barriers- Correctional Service

 Canada. Independent Auditor's Report. https://www.oag
 bvg.gc.ca/internet/docs/parl_oag_202205_04_e.pdf
- Olff, M. (2017). Sex and gender differences in post-traumatic stress disorder: An update. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 8 (4). https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2017.1351204
- Palis, H., Young, P., Korchinski, M., Wood, S., Xavier, J., Luk, N., Mahil, S., Bartlett, S., Brown, H., Salmon, A., Nicholls, T., & Slaunwhite, A. (2024). *Shared experience makes this all possible*": Documenting the guiding principles of peer-led services for people released from prison. *BMC Public Health*, 24(84). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-023-17524-4
- Pascual-Leone, A., Kim, J., & Morrison, O.-P. (2017). Working with victims of human trafficking. *Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy*, 47(1), 51–59. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10879-016-9338-3

- Paynter, M., Martin-Misener, R., Iftene, A., & Murphy, G. T. (2022). The Correctional Services

 Canada institutional mother child program: A look at the numbers. *The Prison Journal*.

 102(5), 610-625. https://doi.org/10.1177/00328855221121272
- Peck, B., & Mummery, J. (2018). Hermeneutic Constructivism: An ontology for qualitative research. *Qualitative Health Research*. 28(3), 389-407. 10.1177/1049732317706931
- Pedneault, C., Lee, S., & Jones, N. (2024). Reconvictions among adults sentenced to custody or community supervision across five provincial correctional programs, 2015/2016 to 2018/2019. Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/85-002-x/2024001/article/00002-eng.htm
- Petersilia, J. (2004). What works in prisoner reentry? Reviewing and questioning the evidence. *Federal Probation*, 68(2), 4–8. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2004-20646-001
- Perreault, S. (2022). Victimization of First Nations People, Metis, and Inuit in Canada. Statistics

 Canada: Canadian Centre for Justice and Community Safety Statistics.
- Pernanen, K., Cousineau, M., Brochu, S., & Sun, F. (2002). *Proportions of crimes associated with alcohol and other drugs in Canada*. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse. https://prod.ccsa.ca/sites/default/files/2019-04/ccsa-009105-2002
- Perron, J., Cleverley, K., & Kidd, S. (2014). Resilience, loneliness, and psychological distress among homeless youth. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, 28(4), 226-229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnu.2014.05.004
- Peterson, N.A., Speer, P.W. & McMillan, D. (2008). Validation of a brief sense of community scale: Confirmation of the principal theory of sense of community. *Journal of Community Psychology*, *36*(1), 61-73.

- Pettus-Davis, C., & Kennedy, S. (2019). *The psychological toll of reentry: Early findings from a multi-state trial*. Institute for Justice Research and Development.

 https://ijrd.csw.fsu.edu/sites/g/files/upcbnu1766/files/media/images/publication_pdfs/5Ke-y_QR2_Psychological_Toll_of_Reentry.pdf
- Printup, N, (Writer, director, producer). (2015). *Our Sisters in Spirit*. [Documentary]. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=zdzM6krfaKY.
- Public Safety Canada. (2020). Corrections and conditional release statistical overview 2019.

 Cat. No: PS1-3E-PDF. Ottawa, ON, Canada: Public Works and Government Services

 Canada.
- Public Safety Canada. (2015). Corrections and conditional release statistical overview 2015.

 Cat. No: PS1-3E-PDF. Ottawa, ON, Canada: Public Works and Government Services

 Canada.
- Puhrmann, A. M. (2015). Gender and General Strain Theory: An Examination of the Role of Gendered Strains and Negative Emotions on Crime. [Doctoral Dissertation, University of California Miami]. University of Miami. https://scholarship.miami.edu/esploro/outputs/doctoral/Gender-and-General-Strain-Theory-An/991031447204802976
- Qualter, P., Vanhalst, J., Nowland, R., Roekel, E., Lodder, G., Bangee, M., Maes, M., & Verhagen, M. (2015). Loneliness across the life span. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*. *10*(2), 250-264. 10.1177/1745691615568999.
- Ritter, L., Peterson, S., & Moss, P. (2022). Working occupationally with women in secure care. Forensicare, The Victorian Institute of Forensic Mental Health.

- Rivera, E. A., Phillips, H., Warshaw, C., Lyon, E., Bland, P. J., & Kaewken, O. (2015). *An applied research paper on the relationship between intimate partner violence and substance use.* National Center on Domestic Violence, Trauma & Mental Health.
- Rodermond, E., Kruttschnitt, C., Slotboom, A.-M., & Bijleveld, C. C. (2016). Female desistance:

 A review of the literature. *European Journal of Criminology*, *13*(1), 3-28.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1477370815597251
- Roebuck, B. (n.d.). *Homelessness, victimization and crime: Knowledge and actionable recommendations*. UOttawa: Institute for the Prevention of Crime. https://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/lbrr/archives/cnmcs-plcng/cn35305-eng.pdf
- Rosenberg, M. (1965). Society and the adolescent self-image. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Russell, D., Peplau, L. A.., & Cutrona, C. E. (1980). The Revised UCLA Loneliness Scale:

 Concurrent and discriminate validity evidence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *39*(3), 472-480.

 https://fetzer.org/sites/default/files/images/stories/pdf/selfmeasures/Self_Measures_for_L oneliness_and_Interpersonal_Problems_UCLA_LONELINESS_REVISED.pdf
- Rydberg, J., Huebner, B., Grommon, E., & Miller, A. (2022). Investigating the effect of post-release housing mobility on recidivism: Considering individuals convicted of sexual offenses. *Sexual Abuse*, *35*(5), 539-567. 107906322211279.

 10.1177/10790632221127980.
- SAMHSA Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2020). *After incarceration: A guide to helping women reenter the community*. Office of

- Intergovernmental and External Affairs; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/pep20-05-01-001.pdf
- Schmidt, A.J., Bourne, A., Weatherburn, P., Reid, D., Marcus, U., Hickson, F., & EMIS

 Network. (2016). Illicit drug use among gay and bisexual men in 44 cities: Findings from the European MSM Internet Survey (EMIS). *International Journal of Drug Policy*. 38, 4–12.
- Sharma, R., Pooya, S., Jongbloed, K., Zamar, D., Pearce, M., Mazzuca, A., Schechter, M., & Spittal, P. (2021). The cedar project: Historical, structural and interpersonal determinants of involvement in survival sex work overtime among Indigenous women who have used drugs in two Canadian cities. *International Journal of Drug Policy*. 87(1), 103012-103012, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.103012
- Shankar, S., Gogosis, E., Palepu, A., Gadermann, A. M., & Hwang, S. W. (2019). "I haven't given up and I'm not gonna": A phenomenographic exploration of resilience among individuals experiencing homelessness. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(13), 1850–1861. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318798353
- Sheppard, A. (2022). "You have to want it:" Women's desistance processes in a short-term provincial prison. [Doctoral dissertation, Memorial University]. Mun Research Library.
- Stack, K. (2020). Moms in prison: The impact of maternal incarceration on women and children. *Manitoba Law Journal*, 43(5), https://doi.org/10.29173/mlj1226
- Stanton, A., Kako, P., & Sawin, K. (2016). Mental health issues of women after release from jail and prison: A systematic review. *Issues in mental health nursing*, *37*(5), 299-331. 10.3109/01612840.2016.1154629.

- Statista Research Department. (2024). Average total income in Canada 2012-2021, by

 Indigenous identity [Infographic]. Statista.

 https://www.statista.com/statistics/1395900/average-total-income-canada-indigenous-identity/#statisticContainer
- Statistics Canada. (2021). *Income of men and women sub-provincial regions*. Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/71-607-x/71-607-x2019006-eng.htm
- Status of Women Canada (2016). *Gender-based analysis plus*. Status of Women Canada. http://www.swc-cfc.gc.ca/gba- acs/index-en.html
- Strub, D. S., Douglas, K. S., & Nicholls, T. L. (2016). Violence risk assessment of civil psychiatric patients with the HCR-20: Does gender matter? *International Journal of Forensic Mental Health*, 15(1), 81–96.
- Stutts, M., & Cohen, J. R. (2022). The role of hopelessness and procedural justice on depressogenic outcomes in serious adolescent offenders. *Law and Human Behavior*, 46(6), 415–428. https://doi.org/10.1037/lhb0000502
- Tasca, C., Rapetti, M., Carta, M.G., & Fadda, B. (2012). Women and hysteria in the history of mental health. *Clinical Practice Epidemiology Mental Health*, 8(1), 110-119.
- Thapa, S., Brown, S., & Skilling, T. (2021). The relationship between self-esteem, gender, criminal attitudes, and recidivism in a youth justice sample. *Criminal justice and behaviour*. 48(4), 539-555. 10.1177/0093854820977577
- Thng, C., Blackledge, E., McIver, R., Smith, L.W., & McNulty, A. (2018). Private sex workers' engagement with sexual health services: An online survey. *Sexual Health*. *15*(1), 93–95
- Travis, J. (2005). *But they all come back: Facing the challenges of prisoner reentry*. The Urban Institute. https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles1/nij/181413.pdf

- Tyagi, S. (2006). Victimization, adversity and survival in the lives of women offenders implications for social policy and correctional practice. *Canadian Woman Studies*, 25(1), 133-138
- Ungar, M., (2013). Resilience, trauma, context, and cultuure. *Trauma, Violence, and Abuse*. 14(3), 255-266.
- Valenty, L. (2021). The self-esteem sentence: Evidence for Labeling Theory. [Master's Thesis, University of California Riverside]. UC Riverside. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/3jx032fb
- Van Voorhis, P. (2012). On behalf of women offenders: Women's place in the science of evidence-based practice. *Criminology & Public Policy*, 11(2), 111-145. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-9133.2012.00793.x
- Violence Policy Center. (2017). *The relationship between community violence and trauma: How violence effects learning, health, and behaviour.* Violence Prevention Coalition. https://vpc.org/studies/trauma17.pdf
- Vitopoulos, N.A., Peterson-Badali, M., Brown, S., & Skilling, T.A. (2018). The relationship between trauma, recidivism risk, and reoffending in male and female juvenile offenders. *Journal of Child Adolescent Trauma*. 12(3), 351-364.
- Van Voorhis, P., Wright, E., & Bauman, A. (2008). Achieving accurate pictures of risk and identifying gender responsive needs: Two new assessments for women offenders.
 National Institute of Corrections.
 https://s3.amazonaws.com/static.nicic.gov/Library/022844.pdf
- Ward, T., Melser, J., & Yates, P. M. (2007). Reconstructing the risk-need-responsivity model: A theoretical elaboration and evaluation. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 12(2), 208–228.

- Wagner, J., Lüdtke, O., Robitzsch, A., Göllner, R., & Trautwein, U. (2018). Self-esteem development in the school context: The roles of intrapersonal and interpersonal social predictors. *Journal of Personality*, 86(3), 481–497. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12330
- Weathers, F. W., Blake, D. D., Schnurr, P. P., Kaloupek, D. G., Marx, B. P., & Keane, T. M. (2013). *The Life Events Checklist for DSM-5 (LEC-5) Standard*. [Measurement instrument]. https://www.ptsd.va.gov/
- Willis, G. M., & Grace, R. C. (2008). The quality of community reintegration planning for child molesters: Effects on sexual recidivism. *Sexual Abuse: Journal of Research and Treatment*, 20(2), 218–240. https://doi.org/10.1177/1079063208318005
- Wittenborn, A.K., Natamba, B,K., Rainey, M., Zlotnick, C., & Johnson, J. (2020). Suitability of the multidimensional scale of perceived social support as a measure of functional social support among incarcerated adults with major depressive disorder. *Journal of Community Psychology*. 48(3), 960-976.
- World Health Organization. (2014). *Prisons and Health*, http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/99018/E90174.pdf
- Wright, E. M., Van Voorhis, P., Salisbury, E. J., & Bauman, A. (2012). Gender-responsive lessons learned and policy implications for women in prison: A review. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 39(12), 1612–1632. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854812451088
- Young, M. M., De Moor, C., Kent, P., Stockwell, T., Sherk, A., Zhao, J., Sorge, J. T., Farrell MacDonald, S., Weekes, J., Biggar, E., & Maloney-Hall, B. (2021). Attributable fractions for substance use in relation to crime. *Addiction*, 116(11), 3198-3205.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/add.15494

- Yang, Y., Knight, K., Joe, G. W., Rowan, G. A., Lehman, W. E., & Flynn, P. M. (2015). Gender as a moderator in predicting re-arrest among treated drug-involved offenders. *Journal of substance abuse treatment*, 49, 65–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2014.08.001
- Yu S. (2018). Uncovering the hidden impacts of inequality on mental health: a global study. *Translational Psychiatry*, 8(1), 98. 10.1038/s41398-018-0148-0.
- Zimet, G.D., Dahlem, N.W., Zimet, S.G., & Farley, G.K. (1988). The Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 52(1), 30-41.
- Zinger, I. (2014). Reflections on conditions of confinement for federally sentenced women.

 Ottawa: Office of Correctional Investigator.

 https://www.ocibec.gc.ca/cnt/comm/presentations/presentations20140314-15-eng.asp

Appendices

Appendix A: Informed Consent Form

Psychological Barriers of Women Reintegrating into the Community After Incarceration

Saint Mary's University REB FILE #23-086 Research Team: Student Researcher: Jordyn Monaghan Faculty Researcher: Dr. Meg Ternes, Department of Psychology Saint Mary's University, 923 Robie Street, Halifax, NS B3H 3C3 Jordyn.monaghan@smu.ca, meg.ternes@smu.ca

Introduction

We welcome you to participate in our research study, which aims to better understand the experiences and barriers women navigate in their reintegration into the community after incarceration. This study is conducted in completion of the student researcher's Master of Science thesis.

Purpose and Rationale

Women experience many unique challenges during community reintegration. By recognizing the unique psychological barriers women experience during re-entry, we hope to support females who have offended through contributing to a better understanding of effective resources. We are looking for you to share your experience, advice, and knowledge of reintegration into the community after you were released from incarceration.

Who Is Eligible?

You are eligible to participate in this study if you meet the following criteria:

- 1) You self-identify as a woman
- 2) You are over 18 years of age
- 3) You permanently reside in Canada
- 4) Have been incarcerated in a Canadian Correctional Center

Procedure

If you wish to participate in this study, you will be asked to complete an online questionnaire which will take about 20 minutes and/or a semi-structured interview over Zoom which will take about 30 minutes. You have the option to participate in either or both the questionnaires and the interview. You will be asked questions that include but are not limited to, how you view yourself, how you believe the public views you, experiences of traumatic events, and other items.

What are the potential risks of this research?

This study focuses on obstacles of reintegration after incarceration. As these topics can be emotional for some, there is a potential of psychological or emotional risk. Additionally, you will be asked to disclose sensitive information regarding your own experiences and perspectives. These questions may make you feel uncomfortable. If you think that these topics will be upsetting for you, we suggest that you do not participate in this study. If you wish to participate in our study, you have an option to decline, skip questions you are not comfortable in answering, or withdraw at any time without negative consequences. All responses to both the survey and

interview will be confidential, and private. This means that only members of the research team will know your responses. Collectively with all other participants, overall data will be shared for the purpose of publishing findings and sharing results however, no personally identifiable information will be shared.

Should you experience any negative outcomes as a result of this study, please contact Dr. Meg Ternes by phone (902-420-5853) or email (meg.ternes@smu.ca) immediately. If you are in crisis, please contact a resource listed below, call 911, or your local emergency department.

The following is a list of Canada-wide mental health resources for all participants in the study:

Wellness Together Canada

1-866-585-0445 or Text WELLNESS to 741741

First Nations and Inuit Hope for Wellness Help Line

1-855-242-3310 Online chat: https://tinyurl.com/bdczu3fx

Talk Suicide Canada

1-833-456-4566 or Text 45645

Canadian Resource Centre for Victims of Crime

1-877-232-2610 or Text 613-208-0747

Kids Help Phone (age 5 to 29)

1-800-668-6868 or Text CONNECT to 686868

For additional resources in your area, please see the following link: https://tinyurl.com/4dfcxz49

What will be done with my information?

If you choose to complete the study, it will be conducted via Qualtrics and Zoom, platforms that have a server located in Canada. The data will be stored on a cloud-based password-protected server and/or on password protected computers. We plan on keeping the data for as long as we think we may need it, and at least five years after the results are published. Only members of the research team will have access to the data, but we may share the data with other scholars or journal editors.

Once all the data is collected and analyzed for this project, we plan on sharing this information with the research community through conferences, presentations, and academic papers. We expect to share our results by Summer 2024.

Limits of Confidentiality

Your confidentiality is very important to us, so we want to ensure that you are aware of the limitations of your confidentiality and any situations where we would be legally obligated to report information that you share with us. If you provide us with specific information regarding your intent to harm yourself or others, we will be obligated to notify the authorities. Specifically, during the interview, you should not discuss possible dangers to yourself or others, you should not discuss details of past crimes that you have committed for which you were not convicted, and you should not discuss any crimes that you are planning to do. We will do our best to stop you if we feel that you are about to discuss anything related to the above. However, if you do state anything related to the above, we are both legally and ethically obligated to break the confidential nature of this interview and report the information in question to the designated authorities.

Compensation

Participants will be compensated with a gift card up to \$15 (\$10 for the interview and \$5 for the questionnaires). If participants successfully recruit a peer, who then completes the study, they will receive an additional \$5 gift card.

Can I withdraw from this study?

If you wish to participate in our study, you have an option to decline, skip questions you are not comfortable in answering, or withdraw at any time without negative consequences. To do so, simply click "choose not to answer" on any remaining survey questions to skip to the end, and then click the button "withdraw from this study" that is located at the end of the survey. For the interview, if you are not comfortable answering a question, tell the principal investigator and the question will be skipped without any questions. The Debriefing Form at the end of the survey and/or interview will provide you with information and resources that you may need. If you choose to withdraw from this study, we will remove your data from our dataset. For the questionnaire, if you do not click this button, once your responses have been submitted, you will not be able to withdraw from the study because we would have no way of identifying your responses.

Participant's Rights and Protections

This research has been reviewed and cleared by the Saint Mary's University Research Ethics Board. If you have any questions or concerns about ethical matters you may contact the Saint Mary's University Research Ethics Board at ethics@smu.ca or (902)420-5728.

Need More Information

If you would like to hear more about this research study prior to participating, you may reach out to one of the main researchers for more information:

Jordyn Monaghan: Jordyn.Monaghan@smu.ca Dr. Marguerite Ternes: meg.ternes@smu.ca

Participant Agreement:

- I understand what this study is about, appreciate the risks and benefits, and that by consenting, I agree to take part in this research study and do not waive any rights to legal recourse in the event of research-related harm.
- I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I can end my participation at any time without penalty.
- I have had adequate time to think about the research study and have had the opportunity to ask questions.

Do you want to participate?

- o Yes, I consent to participate
- o No, I do not consent to participate

Appendix B: Rosenberg Self-esteem Scale

Below is a list of statements dealing with your general feelings about yourself. Please indicate how strongly you agree or disagree with each statement.

1. On the whole, I am sa	atisfied with myself.		
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
2. At times, I think I am	no good at all.		
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
3. I feel that I have a nu	mber of good qualities		
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
4. I am able to do things a	as well as most other po	eople.	
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
5. I feel I do not have muc	h to be proud of.		
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
6. I certainly feel useless at	t times.		
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
7. I feel that I'm a person of	of worth, at least on an	equal plane with other	s.
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
8. I wish I could have mor	e respect for myself.		
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
9. All in all, I am inclined	to feel that I am a failu	ire.	
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
10. I take a positive attitude	toward myself.		
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree

Appendix C- Self-Stigma Scale

The following scale asks a set of statements based on your view of the public's opinion, your opinion, and lastly, how much you believe the statement about yourself. This a reminder that you are able to skip any questions that you feel uncomfortable answering. Please indicate how strongly you agree or disagree with each statement.

1. The public believes n	nost people with a crim	ninal record cannot be t	trusted
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
2. The public believes n regular job	nost people with a crim	ninal record are unwilli	ng to get or keep a
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
3. The public believes n	nost people with a crim	ninal record are danger	ous
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
4. The public believes m	ost people with a crim	inal record are dirty an	d unkempt
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
5. The public believes mos	st people with a crimin	al record are below ave	erage in intelligence
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
6. The public believes mos	t people with a crimina	al record are bad people	e
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
7. The public believes mos	st people with a crimin	al record are disgusting	g
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
8. The public believes mos	st people with a crimin	al record are unpredict	able.
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
9. The public believes mos	st people with a crimin	al record cannot be reh	abilitated
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree

10. I think most people with a criminal record cannot be trusted								
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree					
11. I think most people with a criminal record are unwilling to get or keep a regular job								
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree					
12. I think most people with a criminal record are dangerous								
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree					
13. I think most people v	with a criminal record a	are dirty and unkempt						
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree					
14. I think most people w	ith a criminal record a	re below average in int	telligence					
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree					
15. I think most people w	ith a criminal record ar	re bad people						
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree					
16. I think most people w	ith a criminal record ar	re disgusting						
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree					
17. I think most people w	ith a criminal record ar	re unpredictable.						
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree					
18. I think believes most p	people with a criminal	record cannot be rehab	oilitated					
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree					
19. Because I have a crin	ninal record I cannot be	e trusted						
Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree								
20. Because I have a criminal record I am unwilling to get or keep a regular job								
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree					

21. Because I have a crin	ninal record I am dang	erous	
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
22. Because I have a crit	minal record I am dirty	and unkempt	
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
23. Because I have a crin	ninal record I am below	v average in intelligenc	ee
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
24. Because I have a crin	ninal record I am a bac	l person	
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
25. Because I have a crim	inal record I am disgu	sting	
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
26. Because I have a crim	inal record I am unpre	dictable.	
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
27. Because I have a crim	inal record I cannot be	rehabilitated	
Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree

Appendix D: UCLA Scale

INSTRUCTIONS: Indicate how often each of the statements below describes you.

O indicates "I often feel this way"

S indicates "I sometimes feel this way"

R indicates "I rarely feel this way"

N indicates "I never feel this way"

1. I am unhappy doing so many things alone	O	S	R	N
2. I have nobody to talk to	O	S	R	N
3. I cannot tolerate being so alone	O	S	R	N
4. I lack companionship	O	S	R	N
5. I feel as if nobody really understands me	O	S	R	N
6. I find myself waiting for people to call	O	S	R	N
7. There is no one I can turn to	O	S	R	N
8. I am no longer close to anyone	O	S	R	N
9. My interests and ideas are not shared by those around me	O	S	R	N
10. I feel left out	O	S	R	N
11. I feel completely alone	O	S	R	N
12. I am unable to reach out to those around me	O	S	R	N
13. My social relationships are superficial	O	S	R	N
14. I feel starved for company	O	S	R	N
15. No one really knows me well	O	S	R	N
16. I feel isolated from others	O	S	R	N
17. I am unhappy being so withdrawn	O	S	R	N
18. It is difficult for me to make friends	O	S	R	N
19. I feel shut out and excluded by others	O	S	R	N
20. People are around me but not with me	O	S	R	N

Appendix E: Life Events Checklist for DSM-5

Introduction: Please answer the following questions based on your experiences over the course of your life.

Event	Never	One Time	2-3 times	4 – 10	10+ times	Prefer not
	Experiences			times		to say
1. Natural disaster						
2. Fire or explosion						
3. Transportation accident						
4. Serious accident at work,						
home, or during recreational activity						
5. Exposure to toxic substance						
6. Physical assault						
7. Assault with a weapon						
8. Sexual assault						
9. Other unwanted or						
uncomfortable sexual experience						
10. Combat or exposure to a warzone						
11. Captivity						
12. Life-threatening illness or injury						
13. Severe human suffering						
14. Witness sudden violent death						
15. Sudden accidental death						
16. Serious injury, harm, or death you caused to someone else						
17. Any other very stressful event or experience						

Appendix F: Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support

Please indicate how you feel about each statement.

	Very Strongly Disagree	Strongly Disagree	Mildly Disagree	Neutral	Mildly Agree	Strongly Agree	Very Strongly Agree
There is a special person who is around when I am in need.							
There is a special person with whom I can share my joys and sorrows							
My family really tries to help me							
I get the emotional help and support I need from my family.							
I have a special person who is a real source of comfort to me.							
My friends really try to help me.							
I can count on my friends when things go wrong.							
I can talk about my problems with my family.							
I have friends with whom I can share my joys and sorrows.							
There is a special person in my life who cares about my feelings.							
My family is willing to help me make decisions.							

Appendix G: Brief Sense of Community Scale

Below are a set of statements about your neighbourhood and the general community of the area you are currently living in. Please indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with these statements by placing a check mark in the appropriate box.

	Strongly	Somewhat	Neutral	Somewhat	Strongly
	agree	agree		disagree	disagree
I can get what					
I need in this					
neighbourhood					
This					
neighborhood					
helps me					
fulfill my					
needs					
I feel like a					
member of this					
neighbourhood					
I belong in this					
neighborhood					
I have a say					
about what					
goes on in my					
neighborhood					
People in this					
neighboord are					
good at					
influencing					
each other.					
I feel					
connected to					
this					
neighborhood					
I have a good					
bond with					
others in this					
neighborhood					

Appendix H: Post-Incarceration Reintegration Scale

Please circle the response that describes you the best in your current situation.

1.	I have a safe place to Strongly Agree	live Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Strongly Disagree			
2.	Housing is not somet Strongly Agree	hing I worry ab Agree	oout. Neutral	Disagree	Strongly Disagree			
3.	I have friends and far Strongly Agree	nily I can coun Agree	t on to help me Neutral	when I need it Disagree	Strongly Disagree			
4.	There are many peop Strongly Agree	le in the comm Agree	unity who will Neutral	support me. Disagree	Strongly Disagree			
5.	Since I have been in t I'm at a high-risk to r	•	, I have frequer	ntly found myse	elf in a situation where			
	Strongly Agree	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Strongly Disagree			
6.	When I find myself in Strongly Agree	n a risky situati Agree	on, I'm able to Neutral	make safe deci Disagree	sions Strongly Disagree			
7.	I have a stable job Strongly Agree	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Strongly Disagree			
8.	Employment is not so Strongly Agree	omething I wor Agree	ry about Neutral	Disagree	Strongly Disagree			
9.	I struggle to follow m Strongly Agree	ny post release Agree	commitments a Neutral	and/or the condi Disagree	tions of my release Strongly Disagree			
10	. Maintaining a crime- Strongly Agree	free lifestyle is Agree	important to m Neutral	ne Disagree	Strongly Disagree			
11	11. I am able to access the treatment and resources I need in the community Strongly Agree Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree							
12	. Treatment and resour Strongly Agree	ce support is no Agree	ot something I a	am worried abo Disagree	out Strongly Disagree			

Appendix I: Semi-structured Interview Questions

General

- 1. Can you tell me about your experience re-entering the community after incarceration?
 - a. Did you experience any mental and emotional challenges during your reentry? If so, could you tell me about that?
 - b. What helped you during your re-entry?
 - c. Are there any challenges that you have not yet mentioned that you think women uniquely experience during re-entry?

Community and Social Circle

- 2. How would you describe your current relationship with the larger community?
 - a. Do you feel included or excluded from your larger community?
 - b. How did your relationship with the community affect your return after incarceration?
- 3. How does your current social circle impact your life?
 - c. Did you know them before being incarcerated?

Loneliness

4. Have you felt alone during the reintegration process? Could you describe your experience

Self-Stigma

- 5. What do you think the community's attitudes are toward women re-entering community after being incarcerated?
 - d. Would a woman telling someone about their incarceration impact the way they are treated?
 - e. Do you think other's attitudes or anticipated attitudes toward women who have been incarcerated impact their return to community?

Self-Esteem

6. Do you think a woman's self-esteem impacts their reintegration into community? Why or why not?

Substance Use

- 7. Do you think substance use would affect a woman's reintegration after incarceration?
 - f. What type of impact would substance use have?

Hopelessness

8. Did you feel hopeful for the future upon your return to the community?

Concluding

- 9. Are there any personal qualities that you have that helped you re-enter the community? If so, can you describe them?
- 10. Are there ways society can support what women experience emotionally and mentally when reintegrating into the community after incarceration?
- 11. What advice would you give someone returning to the community after being incarcerated for the first time?
- 12. Is there anything else you would like to tell me about your experiences and thoughts related to returning to the community after incarceration?

Appendix J: Demographic

Please answer the following questions to what fits for you.

Age	18-25	26-35	36-45	46-55	56-65	65+
To wh apply)	Black	owing racial or o	cultural groups	do you belong	to? (circle/sele	ct all that
	First Nations, East/ Southea Latino Middle Easter	st Asian				
	South Asian White If none of these Prefer not to a	se work for you	, please tell us	/ specify here: _		
.			NGI CDTO 0			
Do you	a identity as a i Yes	member of the 2 No	_	Prefer not to a	answer	
Highes	st level of educ Less than grad	ation completed de 10	l: High scho	ool	Some College	or University
	College or spe	ecialized diplon	na Bachelor's	degree	Some post-bac	ccalaureate
	Graduate degr	ree (post-baccal	aureate)			
Emplo	yment:					
	Full-time	Part-time	None			
How lo	ong ago were y	ou incarcerated	?			
What c	crimes were yo	u convicted for	?			
How lo	ong did you spo	end in an institu	tion?			
How o	ften did you dr Never	rink alcohol or u Occasionally	use substances Freque		ounding your in Very Often	ncarceration?
How o	-	rrently drink ald Occasionally	cohol or use su Freque		Very Often	

Appendix K: Feedback Form

Psychological Barriers of Women Reintegrating into the Community After Incarceration

Saint Mary's University REB #23-086

Research Team:

Student Researcher: Jordyn Monaghan
Faculty Researcher: Dr. Meg Ternes, Department of Psychology
Saint Mary's University, 923 Robie Street, Halifax, NS B3H 3C3
Jordyn.monaghan@smu.ca, meg.ternes@smu.ca

We would like to thank you for your participation in this study. As a reminder, the purpose of this study was to get a stronger understanding of the experiences and barriers that women navigate in their reintegration into the community after incarceration. This study is conducted in completion of the student researcher's Master of Science thesis.

Your Data

Please note that your individual data will be kept secure and confidential. No personal identifiers will be attached to the data. Recorded data will be stored on a password protected laptop. All data will be kept for a minimum of 5 years before being destroyed. Once all data are collected, they will be analyzed and aggregate data (group statistics without any individual identifiers), will be reported publicly at conferences, in academic journals, and in presentations.

Compensation

Participants will be compensated with a gift card up to \$15 (\$10 for the interview and \$5 for the questionnaires). If participants successfully recruit a peer, who then completes the study, they will receive an additional \$5 gift card

Questions, Concerns, Inquires, etc.

Once the data is collected and analyzed, we aim to share the final results through research publications, conferences, and workshops. For the privacy of all participants, only overall results, not the individual results, will be disclosed. If you would like additional information, have questions, or have any concerns, please reach out to the research team via the emails listed above. If you are interested in receiving more information regarding the results of this study, you will find a summary of the results by December 1, 2024

here: https://smu.ca/academics/summaries-of-completed-research.html.

As with all Saint Mary's University projects involving human participants, this project was reviewed by the Saint Mary's University Research Ethics Board. Should you have any comments or concerns about ethical matters or would like to discuss your rights as a research participant, please contact the Chair of the Research Ethics Board at 902-420-5728 or ethics@smu.ca

We understand that these topics may have been difficult, for some, to think about and discuss and would like to repeat the importance of seeking support if you need it.

The following is a list of Canada-wide mental health resources for all participants in the study:

Wellness Together Canada 1-866-585-0445 or Text WELLNESS to 741741 686868 **Talk Suicide Canada** 1-833-456-4566 or Text 45645

Kids Help Phone 1-800-668-6868 or Text CONNECT to

First Nations and Inuit Hope for Wellness Help Line 1-855-242-3310

https://tinyurl.com/bdczu3fx

Canadian Resource Centre for Victims of Crime 1-877-232-2610 or Text 613-208-0747

For additional resources in your area, please see the following link: Mental Health and Wellness Resources/ Supports

Thank you for your participation

Appendix L: Recruitment Poster



Women with Incarceration Experiences Needed!

Barriers of women reintegrating into the community after incarceration

The Study

Women experience unique obstacles after they leave incarceration and deserve to have their voices heard! Through an online survey and/or interview, we want to hear about your experiences, advice, and any other challenges that you believe women experience when reintegrating into the community after incarceration

Who is eligible?

- self identify as a woman
- 18 years and older
- · Canadian resident
- Previously been incarcerated in a Canadian institution

Participation

- Zoom interview: Email Jordyn Monaghan to schedule it at reintegrationproject@smu.ca
- **Survey:** Follow the QR code above or find the <u>link here!</u>
- In-person participation is available for certain provinces! Please reach out via email to participate in person

Advocate and be heard!

For more information please contact: reintegrationproject@smu.ca

REB #23-086
SAINT MARY'S UNIVERSITY

How long will it take?

Both the survey and interview take 15-30 minutes each

Compensation

You will receive up to a \$15 gift card for participating (\$10 for interview and \$5 for questionnaire). If you recruit someone to participate, you could receive \$5 after they complete the survey!



This research is supported in part by funding from Research
Nova Scotia



Appendix M: Multiple Regression Results (prosocial reintegration with psychological barriers and trauma as predictors)

MULTIPLE REGRESSION MODEL AND PROSOCIAL REINTEGRATION WITH PSYCHOLOGICAL BARRIERS AND TRAUMA AS PREDICTORS

Predictors	B(SE)	β	t	95% CI	Sig
Loneliness	34(.07)	59	-5.16	[47,21]	p < .001
Self-stigma: Perception	20(.16)	14	-1.24	[516, .12]	p = .220
Self-stigma: Internalized	41(.19)	29	2.20	[79,04]	p = .031
Self-stigma: Agreement	.10(.19)	59	.07	[28, .49]	p = .541
Trauma	04(.09)	05	44	[21, .13]	p = .662

 F^2 (5, 79) = 17.62, p < .001, with an R^2 of 0.53

Appendix N: Multiple Regression Results (Community connection with psychological barriers and trauma as predictors)

Multiple Regression Model and Community Connection with Psychological Barriers and Trauma as Predictors

Predictors	B(SE)	β	t	95% CI	Sig
Loneliness	26(.05)	58	-5.15	[36,16]	p < .001
Self-stigma: Perception	.05(.12)	.04	.36	[20, .29]	p = .717
Self-stigma: Internalized	26(.14)	24	1.81	[55,03]	p = .074
Self-stigma: Agreement	.34(.15)	.29	2.33	[.05, .64]	p = .022
Trauma	15(.07)	23	-2.18	[28,01]	p = .032

 F^2 (5, 79) = 18.76, p < .001, with an R^2 of 0.54